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General Manager 
Sultan Kudarat Water District 
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Dear GM Tabuga, 
 

We transmit herewith the Annual Audit Report on the audit of the 
accounts and operations of the Sultan Kudarat Water District, Tacurong City, 
Sultan Kudarat for the year ended December 31, 2018, in compliance with 
Section 2, Article IX-D of the Philippine Constitution and pertinent provision of 
Section 43 of Presidential Decree No. 1445.  The audit was conducted in 
accordance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain a reasonable basis for our conclusions. 

 
The audit was conducted to (a) verify the level of assurance that may be 

placed on management’s assertions on the financial statements; (b) recommend 
agency improvement opportunities; and (c) determine the extent of 
implementation of prior year’s audit recommendations. 
 

An unmodified opinion on the fairness of the presentation of the financial 
statements as of December 31, 2018 has been rendered. 

 
Summarized below are the significant findings noted during the audit. The 

details and other findings and observations as well as the corresponding 
recommendations are discussed in the audit observations and recommendations 
portion of the report: 
  

1. Audit disallowances totaling P374,908.93 remain unsettled as of 
December 31, 2018 despite the issuance of the Notice of Finality of 
Decision (NFD) and COA Order of Execution (COE) to the persons 
liable. 
 

2. The District surpassed majority of the key performance indicators 
regulated by LWUA where it accomplished nine (9) out of the eleven 
(11) Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) or 82 percent, thus leading to 
favorable results of its financial operation and condition and may 
result to positive evaluation from the Local Water Utilities 
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Administration (LWUA) on the District’s request for various 
performance-based concerns. 
 

3. Areas of improvement exist along with District’s gender 
mainstreaming dependencies that necessitate courses of action in order 
to effectively deliver the purpose of gender and development. 
 

4. Enhancements in the submission of monthly reports are needed to 
ensure the efficiency and effectiveness in the management and 
utilization of its resources as part of its internal control procedures. 

 
 We request that the observations and recommendations contained in the 
report be fully addressed, and we would appreciate being informed of the actions 
taken in this regard within sixty (60) days from the receipt hereof, using the 
attached Agency Action Plan and Status of Implementation (AAPSI) Form. 
 

We acknowledge the cooperation extended to our Auditors by the officials 
and employees of Sultan Kudarat Water District. 
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The President, Republic of the Philippines 
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The Speaker of the House, Republic of the Philippines 
The Chairperson, Senate Finance Committee 
The Chairperson, Appropriations Committee 
The Secretary, Department of Budget and Management 
The Administrator, Local Water Utilities Administration 
Presidential Management Staff, Office of the President 
National Library (soft copy) 
UP Law Center (soft copy) 
COA Commission Central Library (soft copy) 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Introduction 
 

The Sultan Kudarat Water District (SKWD) was established thru 
Sangguniang Bayan Resolution No.82-66 dated October 22, 1982 of the 
Sangguniang Bayan of the Province of Sultan Kudarat with Presidential Decree 
No. 198, as the enabling law to the creation of water districts.  On August 5, 1983, 
the District was issued the Conditional Certificate of Conformance (CCC No. 
247) by the Local Water Utilities Administration (LWUA). 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Water District had a total workforce of 149 
employees composed of 77 regular personnel, 11 casuals, 36 contractual, and 25 
project-based job order personnel.  The Water District is presently headed by a 
General Manager, Engr. Jose D. Tabuga Jr.,MPA. 
 
 
Audit Scope and Methodology 
 

Pursuant to Section 2, Article IX-D of the Philippine Constitution and 
Section 43 of the Government Auditing Code of the Philippines (P.D. 1445), we 
have audited the accounts and operations of the District covering the period 
January 1 to December 31, 2018.   
 

The audit was conducted to (a) verify the level of assurance that may be 
placed on management’s assertions on the financial statements; (b) recommend 
agency improvement opportunities; and (c) determine the extent of 
implementation of prior years’ audit recommendations. 

. 
 
Financial Highlights  
 

The financial profiles of the District for CY 2018 with comparative figures 
for CY 2017 are presented as follows: (All amounts in Philippine Pesos unless 
otherwise stated) 

 
A. Financial Condition 

 
B. Results of Operation 

 

Particulars 2018 2017 
Increase/(Decrease) 

Amount Percentage 
Gross 
Income 137,027,240.41    125,989,047.61 11,038,192.80 8.76% 

Particulars 2018 2017 Increase/(Decrease) 
Amount Percentage 

Assets 
Liabilities 
Equity 

344,388,209.84 
42,843,961.12 

301,544,248.87 

325,379,347.82 
47,753,558.53 

277,625,789.29 

19,008,862.02 
(4,909,597.41) 
23,918,459.58 

5.84% 
(10.28%) 

8.62% 
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Particulars 2018 2017 
Increase/(Decrease) 

Amount Percentage 
Less:  
Expenses     
PS 41,177,727.73 42,696,545.97  (1,518,818.24) (3.56%) 
MOOE 52,015,675.19 39,023,892.29  12,991,782.90 33.29% 
Non-Cash 
Expenses 18,586,189.68 15,429,558.99  3,156,630.69 20.46% 
Financial 
Expenses 511,379.00 646,361.47  (134,982.47) (20.88%) 
Total 
Expenses 112,290,971.60 97,796,358.72  14,494,612.88 14.82% 
Net Income 24,736,268.81 28,192,688.89  (3,456,420.08) (12.26%) 
 
 
Audit Opinion on the Financial Statements 
 

The Auditor rendered an unmodified opinion on the fairness of the 
presentation of the financial statements of Sultan Kudarat Water District as of 
December 31, 2018. 
 
 
Summary of Significant Audit Observations and Recommendations 
 
1. Audit disallowances totaling P374,908.93 remain unsettled as of December 

31, 2018 despite the issuance of the Notice of Finality of Decision (NFD) and 
COA Order of Execution (COE) to the persons liable. 

 
We recommended that Management take the necessary actions to expedite the 
collection of the unsettled disallowances; instruct the concerned personnel to 
exhaust all the possible remedies to collect from each of the liable employees; 
and subsequently, cause all the liable certifying and approving officers, who 
took part in the disbursement of the disallowed      expenditures, to assume 
responsibility in the final settlement of the remaining balance of the 
disallowance. 

 
2. The District surpassed majority of the key performance indicators regulated by 

LWUA where it accomplished nine (9) out of the eleven (11) Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) or 82 percent, thus leading to favorable results 
of its financial operation and condition and may result to positive evaluation 
from the Local Water Utilities Administration (LWUA) on the District’s 
request for various performance-based concerns. 
 
While we expressed our commendation, we recommended however that 
Management continue to assess its current status and operation, impose 
preventive measures to further enhance its overall operational performance, 
and exert more efforts to stabilize and lessen the effect of NRW by 
implementing proper monitoring mechanism and to execute prompt actions 
when leakages and other wastage are spotted. 
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3. Areas of improvement exist along with District’s gender mainstreaming 
dependencies that necessitate courses of action in order to effectively deliver 
the purpose of gender and development. 
 
We recommended that Management to a) continue implement the District’s 
GAD capacity development programs; b) adequately disseminate GAD related 
responsibilities to GFPS members; c) utilize the approved/existing agency 
budget to implement GAD Programs, Activities, and Projects (PAPs);  and d) 
adopt gender mainstreaming strategy to adequately plan and attain desired 
outcomes for gender and development using the gender analysis tools. 

 
4. Enhancements in the submission of monthly reports are needed to ensure the 

efficiency and effectiveness in the management and utilization of its resources 
as part of its internal control procedures. 
 
We recommended that Management install additional measures that include 
enhancement of the process flow of documentation, segregation of workloads, 
and augmentation of personnel in the Accounting Section, to facilitate the 
timely submission of the required Monthly Reports together with the related 
supporting documents within the reglementary period for the auditorial 
review, technical evaluation, and inspection. 

 
 
Summary of Total Suspensions, Disallowances and Charges as of Year-End 

 
The total audit suspension, disallowances and charges found in the audit of 

various transactions of the agency, as of December 31, 2018 is P374,908.93, based 
on the Notice of Suspension (NS)/Notice of Disallowance(ND)/Notice of Charge 
(NC) issued by this Commission, as summarized hereunder: 

 
Particulars Suspensions Disallowances Charges 
Summary of Audit Suspensions, 
Disallowances and Charges as of 
December 31, 2017 

P0.00 P3,302,952.20 P0.00 

Add: Issuances 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Less: Settlements    
          Prior Year 0.00 0.00 0.00 
          Current Year 0.00 2,928,043.27 0.00 
Balance, December 31, 2018 P0.00 P   374,908.93 P0.00 

 
 
Status of Prior Years’ Unimplemented Audit Recommendations 
  

Of the eleven (11) prior year’s audit recommendations embodied in the 
Prior Years’ Annual Audit Reports, five (5) were fully implemented and six (6) 
were partially implemented. 
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SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT 
Tacurong City, Sultan Kudarat 

 
Agency Action Plan and Status of Implementation 

Audit Observation and Recommendations 
For the Audit Year 2018 
As of December 31, 2018 

 
REF AUDIT 

OBSERVATIONS 
Agency Action Plan Status of 

Implementation 
Reason for 

Partial/Dela
y/Non-

Implementa
tion if 

applicable 

Action 
Taken/
Action 
to be 

Taken 

Audit Recommendations Action 
Plan 

Person/
Dept. 

Respon
sible 

Target 
Implementation 

Date 
From To 

CURRENT YEAR   
CY 2018 

AAR 
Pages 
44-46 

Audit disallowances totaling 
P374,908.93 remain unsettled as 
of December 31, 2018 despite the 
issuance of the Notice of Finality 
of Decision (NFD) and COA 
Order of Execution (COE) to the 
persons liable contrary to Section 
7 of COA Circular 2009-006,  to 
the disadvantage of the 
government. 

We recommended that Management 
take the necessary actions to 
 expedite the collection of the unsettled 
disallowances; instruct the concerned 
 personnel to exhaust all the possible 
remedies to collect from each of the 
liable employees; and subsequently, 
cause all the liable certifying and 
approving officers, who took part in the 
disbursement of the disallowed      
expenditures,  to assume responsibility 
in the final settlement of the remaining 
balance of the disallowance. 

       

CY 2018 
AAR 
Pages 
46-48 

Enhancements in the submission 
of monthly reports are needed to 
ensure the efficiency and 
effectiveness in the management 
and utilization of its resources as 
part of its internal control 
procedures. 

We recommended that Management 
install additional measures that include 
enhancement of the process flow of 
documentation, segregation of 
workloads, and augmentation of 
personnel in the Accounting Section, to 
facilitate the timely submission of the 
required Monthly Reports together with 
the related supporting documents within 
the reglementary period for the 
auditorial review, technical evaluation, 
and inspection. 

       

CY 2018 
AAR 
Pages 
48-53 

The District surpassed majority 
of the key performance indicators 
regulated by LWUA where it 
accomplished nine (9) out of the 
eleven (11) Key Performance 

We recommended that Management 
continue to assess its current status and 
operation, impose preventive measures 
to further enhance its overall operational 
performance, and exert more efforts to 
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REF AUDIT 
OBSERVATIONS 

Agency Action Plan Status of 
Implementation 

Reason for 
Partial/Dela

y/Non-
Implementa

tion if 
applicable 

Action 
Taken/
Action 
to be 

Taken 

Audit Recommendations Action 
Plan 

Person/
Dept. 

Respon
sible 

Target 
Implementation 

Date 
From To 

Indicators (KPIs) or 82 percent, 
thus leading to favorable results 
of its financial operation and 
condition and may result to 
positive evaluation from the 
Local Water Utilities 
Administration (LWUA) on the 
District’s request for various 
performance-based concerns. 

stabilize and lessen the effect of NRW 
by implementing proper monitoring 
mechanism and to execute prompt 
actions when leakages and other 
wastage are spotted. 

CY 2018 
AAR 
Pages 
53-56 

 

Areas of improvement exist 
along with District’s gender 
mainstreaming dependencies that 
necessitate courses of action in 
order to effectively deliver the 
purpose of gender and 
development. 

We recommended that Management  a) 
continue implement the District’s GAD 
capacity development programs; b) 
adequately disseminate GAD related 
responsibilities to GFPS members; c) 
utilize the approved/existing agency 
budget to implement GAD Programs, 
Activities, and Projects (PAPs);  and d) 
adopt gender mainstreaming strategy to 
adequately plan and attain desired 
outcomes for gender and development 
using the gender analysis tools. 

       

PRIOR YEARS   

Pages 
19-20,  
Part II of 
CY 2017 
AAR 

Property Plant and Equipment 
amounting to P172,324,513.54 
could not be ascertained as to its 
existence, validity and accuracy 
due to the non-conduct of 
physical count contrary to Sec. 
490 of GAAM Volume 1, thereby 
casting doubt on the fairness of 
the financial statements’ 
presentation. 

We recommended that Management: a) 
require the Property Department to 
constantly monitor and prepare the 
necessary reports vis-à-vis physical 
count of PPEs in conformity with the 
above mentioned provisions; b) cause 
regular reconciliation of records 
between the Property Unit and the 
Accounting Division to detect errors, if 
any and effect necessary correction in 
the affected records for the fair 
presentation of PPE accounts in the 
Financial Statements. 

       

Pages 
20-23,  
Part II of 
CY 2017 
AAR 

Unserviceable Properties 
reclassified to Other Assets 
account totaling P2,423,941.19 
were not adequately supported 
with required reports and were not 
disposed of as of the appropriate 
time contrary to Section 64, 
Volume II of the NGAS Manual, 

We recommended that 
Management: 
a. take appropriate action on the 

insufficiency of personnel in the 
Property Department in order to 
enhance the monitoring system on 
asset utilization, reporting and 
disposal; 
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REF AUDIT 
OBSERVATIONS 

Agency Action Plan Status of 
Implementation 

Reason for 
Partial/Dela

y/Non-
Implementa

tion if 
applicable 

Action 
Taken/
Action 
to be 

Taken 

Audit Recommendations Action 
Plan 

Person/
Dept. 

Respon
sible 

Target 
Implementation 

Date 
From To 

Section 79 of PD 1445 and COA 
Circular No. 89-296,  thus 
exposing them to further physical 
deterioration, decline in economic 
value and depriving the 
government from the potential 
benefits had the immediate 
disposal of these properties been 
effected. 

b. instruct the Property Department 
and the Inventory Committee to 
initiate the conduct of physical 
count of PPEs and prepare the 
Report on Physical Count of PPE 
in order to determine the actual 
existence and condition of the 
properties and shall be used as 
basis of reconciliation of records 
with the Accounting Unit; 

c. instruct the Property Unit and the 
Appraisal & Disposal Committee 
to conduct the physical count of 
unserviceable properties, prepare 
the Inventory and Inspection 
Report of Unserviceable 
Properties and undertake 
immediate disposal of 
unserviceable properties in 
accordance with the procedures 
prescribed under Section 79 of 
Presidential Decree 1445 and 
COA Circular 89-296; and 

d. instruct the Accounting Unit to 
record the disposal of 
unserviceable properties by 
dropping from the books of 
accounts the related Asset 
accounts. 

Pages 
23-25,  
Part II of 
CY 2017 
AAR 

Eighty Six (86) disbursement 
vouchers for CY 2017 in the total 
amount of ₱11,559,456.23 were 
not submitted to COA for 
mandatory post audit and custody 
contrary to Sections 100 and 122 
of PD 1445 and COA Circular 
Nos. 2009-006 and 95-006 , hence 
Management’s assertions of 
occurrence, accuracy, validity and 
completeness of financial 
transactions cannot be ascertained 
and thereby depriving the end 
users of  the financial statements 
on the timely and relevant 

We recommended that Management: 
 a) cause the immediate submission of 

the eighty (86) check vouchers 
with complete supporting 
documents;  

b) direct the accountable officer to 
monitor and ensure that the 
required documents are readily 
available to support the 
disbursement transactions; and  

c) adhere strictly on the prescribed 
timeline in the submission of 
disbursement vouchers with the 
supporting documents to the 
Auditor pursuant to COA rules 
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REF AUDIT 
OBSERVATIONS 

Agency Action Plan Status of 
Implementation 

Reason for 
Partial/Dela

y/Non-
Implementa

tion if 
applicable 

Action 
Taken/
Action 
to be 

Taken 

Audit Recommendations Action 
Plan 

Person/
Dept. 

Respon
sible 

Target 
Implementation 

Date 
From To 

information. and regulations. 
Pages 
25-28,  
Part II of 
CY 2017 
AAR 

Deficiencies in Public/ 
Competitive Bidding procedures 
due to non-adherence to the 
Government Procurement Reform 
Act (RA 9184) and its 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations were observed, 
thereby casting doubt to the 
propriety and regularity of 
procured goods and services 
totaling ₱19,783,642.20. 

We have recommended that 
Management ensure that all 
procurement transactions/  pertaining to 
Competitive/Public Bidding are in 
accordance with the prescribed 
procedures as stipulated in the 2016 
Revised Implementing Rules and 
Regulations of RA 9184. 

       

Pages 
29-30,  
Part II of 
CY 2017 
AAR 

Contracts, Purchase Orders and 
all other documents forming part 
thereof were not submitted on 
time for auditorial review contrary 
to COA Circular No. 2009-001 , 
thus casting doubt on the 
propriety and reasonableness of 
the procurement transactions and 
depriving the Management from 
the prompt information on the 
results of auditorial review, 
technical evaluation and 
inspection. 

We recommended that Management 
install measures that will facilitate the 
timely submission of Contracts and/or 
Purchase Orders together with the 
related supporting documents within 
the reglementary period to facilitate 
auditorial review, technical evaluation 
and inspection pursuant to COA 
Circular No. 2009-001. 

       

CY 2015 
AAR 

The necessity, propriety and 
legality of hiring Services/Job 
Orders in the District is 
questionable because Section 2 
Rule XI of the Omnibus Rules 
implementing Book V of 
Executive Order (EO) No. 292, 
Section 209 to 211 and 517, 
Volume I of the GAAM were not 
strictly followed. 
 

We recommended that Management  
 recommend to the Board of 

Directors to issue policy 
guidelines in the hiring of job 
order in accordance with Section 2 
Rule XI of the Revised  Omnibus 
Rules Implementing Book V of 
EO No. 292 and COA rules and 
regulations cited above;  

 plan and evaluate further on how 
to achieve the ideal and realistic 
personnel complement of the 
District instead of resorting to Job 
Order as scheme: 

 evaluate the performance and 
skills of the said job order 
personnel  that belongs to 
Category II and III as provided 
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REF AUDIT 
OBSERVATIONS 

Agency Action Plan Status of 
Implementation 

Reason for 
Partial/Dela

y/Non-
Implementa

tion if 
applicable 

Action 
Taken/
Action 
to be 

Taken 

Audit Recommendations Action 
Plan 

Person/
Dept. 

Respon
sible 

Target 
Implementation 

Date 
From To 

under Civil Service Commission 
Memorandum Circular No. 10, 
series of 2013 or the Skills 
Eligibility for possible 
appointment to permanent regular 
positions, if merited; and 

 prioritize hiring plumbers of 
regular status in the District. 

 
 
Prepared by:     Reviewed and Verified by:    Approved and Submitted by: 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 
The Board of Directors 
Sultan Kudarat Water District 
Tacurong City, Sultan Kudarat 
 
 
 We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sultan Kudarat Water 
District as at December 31, 2018, which comprise the statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of cash flows, and statement of changes in 
equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and 
generally accepted state accounting principles, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
 Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Public Sector Standards 
on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
 

Republic of the Philippines 
COMMISSION ON AUDIT  

Regional Office No. XII 
OFFICE OF THE SUPERVISING AUDITOR 

CGS-A Water Districts & Other CGS Stand-Alone Agencies 
9506 Koronadal City, Philippines 
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 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Sultan Kudarat Water District as at December 31, 2018, and its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with state 
accounting principles 
 
 
       COMMISSION ON AUDIT 
 
       By: 
 
 

 
VENCY T. VILLARIZA 

State Auditor IV 
OIC-Supervising Auditor 
 

 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2019 
CGS-A Water District 
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Republic of the Philippines 
SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT 

Bonifacio St., City of Tacurong 
 

 
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY 

FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 
The Management of Sultan Kudarat Water District is responsible the 

financial statements as of December 31, 2018, including the additional 
components attached thereto in accordance with the prescribed financial reporting 
framework indicated therein.  

 
The responsibility includes designing and implementing internal controls 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material statement whether due to fraud or error, selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

 
The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements 

before such statements are issued to the regulators, creditors, and other users. 
 
The Commission on Audit has audited the financial statements of the 

Sultan Kudarat Water District in accordance with the Philippine Public Sector 
Standards on Auditing and has expressed its opinion on the fairness of 
presentation upon completion of such audit, in its report to the Board of Directors. 

 
 

 

 



Note 2018 2017

Cash and Cash Equivalents 6 111,685,616.93 102,368,504.03
Receivables – net 7 14,307,163.49 12,252,976.99
Inventories 8 16,186,005.62 11,185,090.84
Other Assets 10 22,922,583.21 178,152.59

165,101,369.25 125,984,724.45

Non-Current Assets 
Property, Plant and Equipment – net 9 176,862,899.40 172,324,513.54
Other Assets 10 2,423,941.19 27,070,109.83

Total Non-Current Assets 179,286,840.59 199,394,623.37

TOTAL ASSETS 344,388,209.84 325,379,347.82

LIABILITIES AND GOVERNMENT EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities 11 36,990,057.94 39,866,722.79
Inter-agency Payable 12 307,299.93 501,637.02
Trust Liabilities 13 1,165,080.69 435,656.16
Deferred Credits 14 38,538.11 0.00
Total Current Liabilities 38,500,976.67 40,804,015.97

Long-Term Liabilities
Financial Liabilities 11 4,342,984.45 6,911,004.45
Deferred Credits 14 0.00 38,538.11
Total Long-Term Liabilities 4,342,984.45 6,949,542.56

TOTAL LIABILITIES 42,843,961.12 47,753,558.53

GOVERNMENT EQUITY 301,544,248.87 277,625,789.29

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 344,388,209.99 325,379,347.82

Total Current Assets

(See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statement )

ASSETS

Current Assets

SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As of December 31, 2018
(With comparative figures for CY 2017)

(In Philippine Peso)
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Note 2018 2017

Service Income 15 6,140,846.67           6,065,167.46       
Business Income 15 130,886,393.74       119,923,880.15   

137,027,240.41       125,989,047.61   

Personal Services 16 41,177,727.73         42,696,545.97     
Maintenance & Other Operating 
Expenses 17 52,015,675.19         39,023,892.29     

Non-Cash Expenses 20 18,586,189.68         15,429,558.99     
Financial Expenses 18 511,379.00              646,361.47          
Total Expenses 112,290,971.60       97,796,358.72     

NET INCOME/(LOSS) 24,736,268.81         28,192,688.89     

Expenses

(See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statement )

Income

Total Income

SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(With comparative figures for CY 2017)

(In Philippine Peso)
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Note 2018 2017

Government Equity
Donated Capital 4,365,742.00        4,365,742.00        

Retained Earnings/(Deficits)
Beginning Balance 273,260,047.29    246,279,172.54    
Prior Year's Adjustments (817,809.23)          (1,211,814.14)       
Net Income/(Loss) for the period 24,736,268.81      28,192,688.89      
Ending Balance 297,178,506.87    273,260,047.29    

TOTAL 301,544,248.87    277,625,789.29    

Reserve/Restricted Capital

(See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statement )

SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

As of December 31, 2018
(With comparative figures for CY 2017)

(In Philippine Peso)
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2018 2017

Proceeds from Sale of Goods and Services 1,031,352.64 1,523,261.50
Collection of Income/Revenue 5,428,237.57 5,208,645.53
Collection of Receivables 130,370,536.39 121,092,205.13
Trust Receipts 194,645.00 221,344.88
Other Receipts 219,509.20 191,622.56
Adjustments 5,353,510.63 1,403,008.29

142,597,791.43 129,640,087.89

Payment of Expenses 47,207,176.13 40,784,895.34
Purchase of Inventories 2,329,528.10 2,365,785.29
Grant of Cash Advances 8,479,714.19 6,511,569.15
Prepayments 462,579.18 412,816.98
Payments of Accounts Payable 42,870,577.03 46,080,350.14
Remittance of Personnel Benefit Contributions 
and Mandatory Deductions

22,340,110.98 22,829,240.43

Other Disbursements 1,120,515.97 1,097,089.68
Adjustments 5,441,260.86 1,036,339.77
Total Cash Outflows 130,251,462.44 121,118,086.78

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities 12,346,328.99 8,522,001.11

Receipt of Interest Earned 219,467.71 275,664.82
219,467.71 275,664.82

Purchase/Acquisition of Property, Plant and 
Equipment 1,373,971.80 1,850,298.22
Total Cash Outflows 1,373,971.80 1,850,298.22

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities (1,154,504.09) (1,574,633.40)

Payment of Long-Term Liabilities 1,363,036.00 1,260,141.00
Payment of Interest on Loans and Other 
Financial Charges

511,676.00 614,571.00

Total Cash Outflows 1,874,712.00 1,874,712.00

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (1,874,712.00) (1,874,712.00)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 9,317,112.90 5,072,655.71

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 102,368,504.03 97,295,848.32
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 111,685,616.93 102,368,504.03

Cash Outflows

Cash Outflows

Cash Flow From Investing Activities

Cash Outflows

Cash Flow From Financing Activities

Cash Inflows

Total Cash Inflows

Total Cash Inflows

SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
(With comparative figures for CY 2017)

(In Philippine Peso)

Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Cash Inflows

7
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SULTAN KUDARAT WATER DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2018 

 
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

The Sultan Kudarat Water District was established thru Sangguniang Bayan 
Resolution No. 82-66 dated October 22, 1982 of the Sangguniang Bayan of the 
Province of Sultan Kudarat with Presidential Decree No. 198, as the enabling law 
to the creation of water districts. On August 5, 1983, the District was issued the 
Conditional Certificate of Conformance (CCC No. 247) by the Local Water 
Utilities Administration (LWUA).  
 
The powers, privileges and duties of the District are exercised and performed by 
and through the Board of Directors, as the policy-making body composed of the 
following: 
  

Chairperson  -  Engr. Nonito P. Bernardo 
Vice Chairperson  -         Atty. Kyndell A. Hilario,CPA 
Treasurer            -         Mrs. Norma D. Griño 
Secretary       -        Mr. Emiliano C. Pacardo 
Auditor                -        Mr. Eduardo T. Tono 
 

SKWD continues to be true to its Mission-Vision to provide 24/7 of potable, 
adequate and affordable water with competent personnel, to provide efficient 
customer service and active partner on environmental issues and development.  
Today, SKWD provides water to the City of Tacurong and the municipalities of 
Isulan and Esperanza. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, the SKWD had a total workforce of 149 employees 
composed  of 77 regular  personnel, 11 casuals, 36 contractual and 25 project-
based job  order personnel.  The District  is  presently  headed  by a General 
Manager, Engr. Jose D. Tabuga Jr.,MPA. 
  
The District was registered with the Bureau of Internal Revenue on January 
22,1994 as a GOCC.  Its principal office is located at corner Bonifacio Street and 
Quirino Avenue, Brgy. Poblacion, Tacurong City 
  
 

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

2.1. Statement of Compliance 
 

 The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the 
 Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) in compliance with 
 Commission on Audit Resolution No. 2015-040 dated December 1, 2015  and 
 COA Circular Nos. 2015-010 and 2016-006 dated December 1, 2015  and 
 December 29, 2016, respectively.  
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 The accounting policies have been consistently applied throughout the 
 year presented. 

 
2.2. Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements  
 

 The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical 
 cost, unless stated otherwise. The Statement of Cash Flows is prepared 
 using the direct method. 
  
 The consolidated financial statements are presented in peso (P), which is  also 
 the country’s functional currency. 

  
Amounts are rounded off to the nearest peso, unless otherwise stated. The 
preparation of financial statements in compliance with the adopted PFRS 
requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires the entity to 
exercise judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies. The areas 
where significant judgments and estimates have been made in preparing the 
financial statements and their effects are disclosed in the notes 

 
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

3.1  Basis of Accounting 
 
 The Water District’s financial statements are prepared on an 
 accrual basis in accordance with the PFRS. 
 
3.2  Financial Instruments 
 
 a. Financial assets 
  

(i) Initial Recognition 
 

Financial assets within the scope of PFRS 9- Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement are classified as financial assets at 
fair value through income or loss, held-to-maturity investments, 
loans and receivables or available-for-sale financial assets, as 
appropriate. The Water District determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace(regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, 
i.e., the date that the Water District commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. 
 
The Water District’s financial assets include: cash and cash 
equivalents: trade and other trade receivables; loans and other loans 
receivables; quoted and unquoted financial instruments; and 
derivative financial instruments. 
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(ii) Subsequent measurement 
 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 
classification. 
 
1. Financial assets at fair value through income or loss 
 
Financial assets at fair value through income or loss include 
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through income or loss. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through income 
or loss are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in income or loss. 
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no financial assets have been 
classified at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 
 
2. Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They arise when the Water district provides money, goods or 
services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the 
receivables.  Loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost in 
the Water Districts statement of financial position. Amortization is 
determined using the effective interest rate method. Loans and 
receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within 
twelve months of the reporting date. Otherwise, these are classified 
a non-current assets. 
 
Included in this category are the Water District’s accounts 
receivables, due from related parties and other non-related parties, 
and refundable deposits. 
 
3. Held to Maturity (HTM) Investments 
 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-maturity 
wherein the Water District has the positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity.   
 
After initial measurement, held-to-maturity investments are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
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an integral part of the effective interest rate. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognized in income or loss. 
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no financial assets have been 
classified as HTM investments. 
 
(iii) Derecognition 

 
The Water District derecognizes a financial asset or where 
applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of Water District of 
similar financial assets when: 
 
1. the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expired or waived; and 
 
2. the Water District has transferred its contractual rights to receive 
the cash flows of the financial assets, or retains the contractual 
rights to receive the cash flows of the financial assets but assumes 
contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more 
recipients in an arrangement that meets the conditions set forth in 
PFRS 9-Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; and 
either the entity has: 
 
• transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset; or 
 
• neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, but has transferred the 
control of the asset. 
 
(iv)  Impairment of Financial Asset 

 
The Water District assesses at each reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial is 
deemed to be impaired if and only if, there is objective evidence of 
impairment as result of one or more events that has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and 
that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial assertor the group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated. 
 
Evidence of impairment may include the following indicators: 
 
1. The borrowers or a group of borrowers are experiencing 
significant financial difficulty; 
 
2. Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; 
 
3. The probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganization; 
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4. Observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in 
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic 
condition that correlate with defaults. 
 
(v)  Financial assets carried at amortized cost 

 
For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Water District 
first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. 
If the Water District determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of 
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in collective 
assessment of impairment. 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred, the amount of the Joss is measured as the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows(excluding future expected credit losses 
that have not yet been incurred).The present value of the estimated 
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original 
effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable interstate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate. 
 
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized in 
income or loss. Loans together with the associated allowance are 
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery 
and all collateral has been realized or transferred to the Water 
District. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated 
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously 
recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting 
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the 
recovery is credited to finance costs in income or loss. 
 

b. Financial liabilities 
 
(i) Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities within the scope of PFRS 9 are classified as 
financial liabilities at fair value through income or loss, or loans 
and borrowings, as appropriate. The entity determines the 
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition. 
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All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in 
the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. 
 
The Water District's financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables, bank overdrafts, loans and borrowings, financial 
guarantee contracts. 
 
(ii) Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 
classification. 
 
1. Financial liabilities at fair value through income or loss 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through income or loss include 
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through income or 
loss. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category 
includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group 
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships as defined by PFRS 9. 
 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in 
income or loss. 
 
2. Loans and borrowings 
 
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognized in income or loss 
when the liabilities are derecognized as well through the effective 
interest method amortization process. 
 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of 
the effective interest rate. 
 
(iii) Derecognition 

 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the 
liability expires or is discharged or cancelled. 
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
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and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognized in income or loss. 
 

c. Offsetting of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously. 
 

d. Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active 
markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long 
positions and ask price for short positions),without any deduction 
for transaction costs. 
 

3.3  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in bank, 
deposits on call and highly liquid investments with an original maturity 
of three months or less, which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value. For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as 
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 
3.4  Inventories 
 

Inventory is measured at cost upon initial recognition. To the extent 
that inventory are received through non-exchange transactions (for no 
cost or for a nominal cost), the cost of the inventory is its fair value at 
the date of acquisition. 
 
Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and 
conditions are accounted for, as follows: 
 
a. Raw materials: purchase cost using the weighted average cost 
method 
 
b. Finished goods and work in progress: cost of direct materials and 
labor and a proportion of manufacturing overheads based on the 
normal operating capacity, but excluding borrowing costs 
 
After initial recognition, inventory is measured at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value. However, to the extent that a class of inventory is 
distributed or deployed at no charge or for a nominal charge, that class 
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of inventory is measured at the lower of cost and current replacement 
cost. 
 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of operations, less the estimated costs of completion and the 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale, exchange, or distribution. 
Inventories are recognized as an expense when deployed for utilization 
or consumption in the ordinary course of operations of the Water 
District. 
 

3.5  Investment Property 
 
Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction 
costs. The carrying amount includes the replacement cost of 
components of an existing investment property at the time that cost is 
incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of 
day-to-day maintenance of an investment property. 
 
Investment property acquired through a non-exchange transaction is 
measured at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment property are measured using the cost 
model and are depreciated over their estimated useful life of 30 years. 
 
Investment property are derecognized either when they have been 
disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no 
future economic benefit or service potential is expected from their 
disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the income or loss in the 
period of derecognition. 
 
Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a 
change in use. 
 
The Water District uses the cost model for the measurement of 
investment property after initial recognition. 
 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over its 
estimated useful life. 
 

3.6  Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
a. Recognition 
 
An item is recognized as property, plant and equipment (PPE) if it 
meets the characteristics and recognition criteria as PPE. 
 
The characteristics of PPE are as follows: 
 

(i) tangible items; 
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(ii) are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes; 
and 

(iii)are expected to be used during more than one reporting period. 
 
An item of PPE is recognized as an asset if: 
 

(i) it is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the entity; 

(ii) the cost or fair value of the item can be measured reliably; and 
(iii)the cost is at least P15,000.00. 

 
 
b. Measurement at Recognition 
 
An item recognized as PPE is measured at cost. 
 
A PPE acquired through non-exchange transaction is measured at its 
fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
 
The cost of the PPE is the cash price equivalent or, for PPE acquired 
through on cash-exchange transaction its cost is its fair value as at 
recognition date. 
 
Cost includes the following: 
 

(i) its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable 
purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates; 

(ii) expenditure that is directly attributable to acquisition of the 
items; and 

(iii)iii. initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the 
item and restoring the site on which it is located, the obligation 
for which an entity incurs either when the item is acquired, or 
as a consequence of having used the item during a particular 
period for purposes other than to produce inventories during 
that period. 

 
c. Measurement after Recognition 

 
After recognition, all PPE are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
When significant parts of PPE are required to be replaced at intervals, 
the Water District recognizes such parts as individual assets with 
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when 
a major repair/replacement is done, its cost is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the PPE as a replacement if the recognition criteria 
are satisfied. 
 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized as expense in 
income or loss as incurred. 
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d. Depreciation 
 
Each part of an item of PPE with a cost that is significant in relation to 
the total cost of the item is depreciated separately. 
 
The depreciation charge for each period is recognized as expense 
unless it is included in the cost of another asset. 
 

i. Initial recognition of depreciation 
 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use such 
as when it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 
 
For simplicity and to avoid proportionate computation, the 
depreciation is for one month if the PPE is available for use on 
or before the 15th of the month. However, if the PPE is 
available for use after the 15th of the month, depreciation is for 
the succeeding month. 
 

ii. Depreciation Method 
 
The straight line method of depreciation is adopted unless 
another method is more appropriate for Entity operation. The 
residual value of the PPE is deducted in computing for its 
depreciation. 

 
iii. Estimated useful life 

 
The Water District uses the life span of PPE prescribed by 
LWUA in determining the specific estimated useful life for 
each asset based on its experience. 
 

iv. Residual value 
 
The Water District uses a residual value equivalent to at least 
five percent (10%) of the cost of the PPE. 
 

e. Impairment 
 
An asset's carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount, 
irrecoverable service amount, if the asset's carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount or recoverable service amount. 
 
f. Derecognition 
 
The Water District derecognizes items of PPE and/or any significant 
part of an asset upon disposal or when no future economic benefits or 
service potential is expected from its continuing use. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference 
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between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset) is included in the income or loss when the asset is derecognized. 
 

3.7  Leases 
 
a. Water District as a lessee 
 

i. Finance lease 
 
Finance leases are leases that transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item 
to the Water District. 
 
Assets held under a finance lease are capitalized at the 
commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of the future 
minimum lease payments. Theater District also recognizes 
the associated lease liability at the inception of the lease. 
The liability recognized is measured at the present value of 
the future minimum lease payments at initial recognition. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, lease payments are 
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognized as finance costs in income or loss. 
 
An asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over the 
useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Water District will obtain ownership of 
the asset by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of 
the asset and the lease term. 

 
ii. Operating Lease 

 
Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
leased item to the Water District. Operating lease payments 
are recognized as an operating expense in income or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
b. Water District as a lessor 

 
i. Finance Lease 

 
The Water District recognizes lease payments receivable 
under a finance lease as assets in the statement of financial 
position. The assets are presented as receivable at an 
amount equal to the net investment in the lease. 
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The finance revenue is recognized based on a pattern 
reflecting constant periodic rate of return on the net 
investment in the finance lease 
. 

ii. Operating lease 
 
Leases in which the Water District does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 
asset are classified as operating leases. 
 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease 
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognized over the lease term. Rent received from an 
operating lease is recognized as income on a straight line 
basis over the lease term. 
 
Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in 
which they are earned. 
The depreciation policies for PPE are applied to similar 
assets leased by the entity. 
 

3.8  Intangible Assets 
 

a. Recognition and Measurement 
 
Intangible assets are recognized when the items are identifiable non-
monetary assets without physical substance; it is probable that the 
expected future economic benefits or service potential that are 
attributable to the assets will flow to the entity; and the cost or fair 
value of the assets can be measured reliably. 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. 
 
If payment for an intangible asset is deferred beyond normal credit 
terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent. The difference between this 
amount and the total payments is recognized as interest expense over 
the period of credit unless it is capitalized in accordance with the 
capitalization treatment permitted in PAS 23, Borrowing Costs. 
 
 
 
b. Subsequent expenditure on an acquired in-process research and 
development project 
 
Subsequent expenditure on an in-process research or development 
project acquired separately and recognized as an intangible asset is: 
 

i. recognized as an expense when incurred if it is research 
expenditure; 
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ii. recognized as an expense when incurred if it is development 
expenditure that does not satisfy the criteria for recognition as 
an intangible asset; and 

iii. added to the carrying amount of the acquired in-process 
research or development project if it is development 
expenditure that satisfies the recognition criteria for intangible 
assets. 

 
c. Intangible assets acquired through non-exchange transaction 
 
The cost of intangible assets acquired in a non-exchange transaction is 
their air value at the date these were acquired. 
 
d. Internally Generated Intangible Assets 
 
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in 
income or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 
e. Recognition of an expense 
 
Expenditure on an intangible item is recognized as expense when it is 
incurred unless it forms part of the cost of an intangible asset that 
meets the recognition criteria of an intangible asset. 
 
f. Subsequent measurement 
 
The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed as either finite or 
indefinite. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their 
useful lives. 
 
The straight line method is adopted in the amortization of the expected 
pattern of consumption of the expected future economic benefits or 
service potential. 
 
An intangible asset with indefinite useful life is not to be amortized. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or intangible assets not yet 
available for use are assessed for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the assets may be impaired. 
 
The amortization period and the amortization method, for an intangible 
asset with a finite useful life, are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period. 
 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortization period or method, as 
appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.  
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The amortization expense on an intangible asset with a finite life is 
recognized in income or loss as the expense category that is consistent 
with the nature of the intangible asset. 
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are 
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the income or loss 
when the asset is derecognized. 
 

3.9  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
 
a. Provision 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Water District has a present 
obligation(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or 
service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the Water District expects some or all of a provision to-be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. 
 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of 
financial performance net of any reimbursement. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date, and adjusted to reflect 
the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed. 
 
 
b. Contingent liabilities 
 
The Water District does not recognize a contingent liability, but 
discloses details of any contingencies in the notes to financial 
statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits or service potential is remote. 
 
c. Contingent assets 
 
The Water District does not recognize a contingent asset, but discloses 
details of a possible asset whose existence is contingent on the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Water District in the notes to 
financial statements. 
 
Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that developments 
are appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become 
virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits or service 
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potential will arise and the asset's value can be measured reliably, the 
asset and the related revenue are recognized in the financial statements 
of the period in which the change occurs. 
 

3.10  Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 
The Water District recognizes the effects of changes in accounting 
policy retrospectively. The effects of changes in accounting policy are 
applied prospectively if retrospective application is impractical. 
The Water District recognizes the effects of changes in accounting 
estimates prospectively through income or loss. 
 
The Water District corrects material prior period errors retrospectively 
in the first set of financial statements authorized for issue after their 
discovery by: 
 

a. Restating the comparative amounts for prior period(s) 
presented in which the error occurred; or 
 
b. If the error occurred before the earliest prior period 
presented, restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities 
and net assets/equity for the earliest prior period presented. 
 

3.11 Foreign Currency Transactions 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recognized by applying 
the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign 
currency at the transaction date. 
 
At each reporting date: 
 

a. Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the 
closing rate; 
b. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction; and 
c. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value is determined. 
 

Exchange differences arising (a) on the settlement of monetary items, 
or (b)on translating monetary items at rates different from those at 
which they are translated on initial recognition during the period or in 
previous financial statements, are recognized in income or loss in the 
period in which they arise, except as those arising on a monetary item 
that forms part of a reporting entity's net investment in a foreign 
operation. 
 

3.12 Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions 
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a. Recognition and measurement of assets from non-exchange 
transactions 
 
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction, other than 
services in-kind, that meets the definition of an asset are recognized as 
an asset if the following criteria are met: 
 

i. It is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the asset will flow to the entity; 
and 

ii. The fair value of the asset can be measured reliably. An 
asset acquired through a non-exchange transaction is 
initially measured at its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition. 

 
b. Recognition of revenue from non-exchange transactions 
 
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognized as 
an asset is recognized as revenue, except to the extent that a liability is 
also recognized in respect of the same inflow. 
 
As the Water District satisfies a present obligation recognized as a 
liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a non-exchange 
transaction recognized as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of 
the liability recognized and recognizes an amount of revenue equal to 
that reduction. 
 
c. Measurement of revenue from non-exchange transactions 
 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions is measured at the amount of 
the increase in net assets recognized by the entity, unless a 
corresponding liability is recognized. 
 
d. Measurement of liabilities on initial recognition from non-
exchange transactions 
 
The amount recognized as a liability in a non-exchange transaction is 
the best estimate of the amount required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting date. 
 
e. Taxes 
 
Taxes and the related fines and penalties are recognized when collected 
or when these are measurable and legally collectible. The related 
refunds including those that are measurable and legally collectible are 
deducted from the recognized tax revenue. 
 
f. Fees and fines not related to taxes 
 
The Water District recognizes revenue from fees and fines, except 
those related to taxes, when earned and the asset recognition criteria 
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are met. Deferred income is recognized instead of revenue if there is a 
related condition attached that would give rise to a liability to repay the 
amount. 
. 
Other non-exchange revenues are recognized when it is probable that 
the future economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
asset will flow to the entity and the fair value of the asset can be 
measured reliably. 

 
g. Gifts and donations 
 
The Water District recognizes assets and revenue from gifts and 
donations when it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential will flow to the entity and the fair value of the assets 
can be measured reliably. 
 
Goods in-kind are recognized as assets when the goods are received, or 
there is a binding arrangement to receive the goods. If goods in-kind 
are received without conditions attached, revenue is recognized 
immediately. If conditions are attached, a liability is recognized, which 
is reduced and revenue recognized as the conditions are satisfied. 
 
On initial recognition, gifts and donations including goods in-kind are 
measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition, which are 
ascertained by reference to an active market, or by appraisal. An 
appraisal of the value of an asset is normally undertaken by a member 
of the valuation profession who holds a recognized and relevant 
professional qualification. For many assets, the fair values are 
ascertained by reference to quoted prices in an active and liquid 
market. 
 
h. Transfers 
 
The Water District recognizes an asset in respect of transfers when the 
transferred resources meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the 
criteria for recognition as an asset, except those arising from services 
in-kind. 
 
i. Services in-kind 
 
Services in-kind are not recognized as asset and revenue considering 
the complexity of the determination of and recognition of asset and 
revenue and the eventual recognition of expenses. 
 
j. Transfers from other government entities 
 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions with other government 
entities and the related assets are measured at fair value and recognized 
on obtaining control of the asset (cash, goods, services and property) if 
the transfer is free from conditions and it is probable that the economic 
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benefits or service potential related to the asset will flow to the Water 
District and can be measured reliably. 
 

3.13 Revenue from Exchange Transactions 
 
a. Measurement of revenue 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable. 
 
b. Rendering of services 
 
The Water District recognizes revenue from rendering of services by 
reference to the stage of completion when the outcome of the 
transaction can be estimated reliably. The stage of completion is 
measured by reference to labor hours incurred to date as a percentage 
of total estimated labor hours. 
 
Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is 
recognized only to the extent that the expenses incurred are 
recoverable. 
 
c. Sale of goods 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 
usually on delivery of the goods and when the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Water 
District. 
 
d. Interest income 
 
Interest income is accrued using the effective yield method. The 
effective yield discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying amount. 
The method applies this yield to the principal outstanding to determine 
interest income each period. 
 
e. Dividends 
 
Dividends or similar distributions are recognized when the Water 
District's right to receive payments is established. 
 
f. Rental Income 
 
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is 
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and included 
in revenue 
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g. Royalties 
 
Royalties are recognized as they are earned in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement. 
 

3.14 Budget Information 
 
The annual budget is prepared on a cash basis and is published in the 
government website. 
 
A separate Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual 
Amounts(SCBAA) is prepared since the budget and the financial 
statements are not prepared on comparable basis. The SCBAA is 
presented showing the original and final budget and the actual amounts 
on comparable basis to the budget. Explanatory comments are 
provided in the notes to the annual financial statements. 
 

3.15 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 
a. Impairment of cash-generating assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Water District assesses whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Water 
District estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's 
recoverable amounts the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that 
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 
 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent 
market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
 
For assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses 
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Water District estimates the asset's or cash-generating unit's 
recoverable amount. 
 
A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. The 
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
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exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognized in income or loss. 
 
b. Impairment of non-cash-generating assets 
 
The Water District assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is 
required, the Water District estimates the asset's recoverable service 
amount. An asset's recoverable service amount is the higher of the non-
cash-generating asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
 
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable service 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable service amount. The Water District classifies assets as 
cash-generating assets when those assets are held with the primary 
objective generating a commercial return. Therefore, non-cash-
generating assets would be those assets from which the Water District 
does not intend (as its primary objective) to realize a commercial 
return. 
 

3.16 Related Parties 
 
The Water District regards a related party as a person or an entity with 
the ability to exert control individually or jointly, or to exercise 
significant influence over the Water District, or vice versa. 
 
Members of key management are regarded as related parties and 
comprise the members of the Planning and Management Committee of 
the Water District. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, no related party transaction is recognized in 
the books. 
 

3.17 Employee Benefits 
 
The employees of Water District are members of the Government 
Service Insurance System (GSIS) which provides life and retirement 
insurance coverage. 
 
The Water District recognizes the undiscounted amount of short term 
employee benefits, like salaries, wages, bonuses, allowance, etc., as 
expense unless capitalized, and as a liability after deducting the 
amount paid. 
 

3.18 Measurement Uncertainty 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with PFRS 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
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the reporting amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of the revenue and expenses during the 
period. Items requiring the use of significant estimates include the 
useful life of a capital asset, estimated employee benefits, rates for 
amortization, impairment of assets, and accrual of expenses. 
 
Estimates are based on the best information available at the time of 
preparation of the financial statements and are reviewed annually to 
reflect new information as it becomes available. Measurement 
uncertainty exists in these financial statements. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates. 
 

4.  CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Water District adopted the new accounting policy on the recognition of 
the government grants in 2018. This accounting change has no significant 
impact on Water District’s financial statements. 
 

5.  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 
 
The Water District has determined the prior period adjustments of Php 
(817,809.23) calendar year ended December 31, 2018 and Php-(1,211,814.14) 
for the calendar year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
As a result, the prior period adjustments affected the prior year’s accumulated 
income/(loss) and cumulative effect on beginning accumulated income/(loss) 
for the current year. 
 

6.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in bank, deposits 
on call and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars As at December 31, 2018 As at December 31, 2017
Cash on Hand                            631,234.80                            283,674.50 
Cash in Bank-Local Currency                       94,343,880.47                       85,529,753.59 
Cash Equivalents                       16,710,501.66                       16,555,075.94 
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6.1  Cash on Hand 
 

 
 
 
All collections of the water district are promptly deposited in the depository 
banks. The cash on hand at the end of the year are those collections that 
remain as deposit in transit, crediting to the bank accounts at the beginning of 
the succeeding year. 
 
6.2 Cash in Bank 
 

 
 
Cash in Bank in PNB Isulan and DBP Tacurong Project were closed in 2018 
and the Account balances were deposited to LBP Tacurong and DBP 
Tacurong Benefits respectively.  
 
6.3  Cash Equivalents 
 

 

Particulars As at December 31, 2018 As at December 31, 2017
Cash on Hand                            631,234.80                            283,674.50 
   Collecting Officer- Enitorio                            175,240.03                              73,816.13 
   Collecting Officer- Perez                            196,852.12                              94,251.80 
   Collecting Officer- Ayco                            249,692.82 104,703.42                                   

   Collecting Officer- Perales                                9,449.83 10,903.15                                     

Total                            631,234.80                            283,674.50 

Particulars As at December 31, 2018 As at December 31, 2017
Cash in Bank -Local Currency 
   Savings Account
   LBP Tac. Payroll (1011-1377-13)                            193,165.07                            675,290.01 
   DBP Tac ATA (0945-010347-530)                            792,781.06                            307,575.43 
   PNB Isu (4410-638000-11)                            759,024.60 
   LBP Isu.Payroll (1011-1364-31)                            485,822.82                            490,943.67 
   LBP Esp.Payroll (1011-1364-23)                            864,634.35                            622,816.00 
   Current Account
   LBP Tac. (1012-1053-43)                       47,691,791.73                       48,530,005.77 
   LBP Tac.SF (1012-1102-07)                         3,738,964.96                         3,585,983.32 
   LBP Tac.LC (1012-1066-50)                         8,634,484.48                         8,450,736.13 
   DBP Tac.Ben. (0945-010347-030)                         4,367,985.73                         3,520,599.41 
   DBP Tac.Proj. (0945-010347-031)                                           -                           5,636,793.72 
   LBP Isu. (2452-1003-82)                       21,325,472.02                         9,586,357.87 
   LBP Esp. (2452-1039-26)                         6,248,778.25                         3,363,627.66 
Total                       94,343,880.47                       85,529,753.59 

Particulars As at December 31, 2018 As at December 31, 2017
Cash Equivalents
   Time Deposits
   LBP-TD LBP(1013-0030-21)                       10,796,536.68                         1,385,578.53 
   LBP-TD JSA (1011-1277-34)                         4,516,702.69                         4,470,342.47 
   DBP-TD (0945-010347-160)                         1,397,262.29                       10,699,154.94 
Total                       16,710,501.66                       16,555,075.94 
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Cash equivalents are investments that can readily be converted into cash. 
These short-term investments are invested in the Development Bank of the 
Philippines and the Land Bank of the Philippines. The Time Deposit Joint 
Savings Account with LWUA were restricted for withdrawals. 
 
 

7.  RECEIVABLES 
  

7.1  Loans and Receivables 
 

 
 
The Accounts Receivables includes all amounts due on open accounts arising 
from services rendered to customers for water sales and incidental services.  
 
7.2  Aging/ Analysis of Receivables as at December 31, 2018 
 

 
 
7.3 Inter-Agency Receivables 
 

 
 
The Due from Government Corporations are collectibles from Lebak Water 
District (LWD) for BAC expenses during LWD Public Bidding. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Non-
Current Total Current Non-

Current Total

Accounts Receivable     14,195,907.35     14,195,907.35     12,072,085.04     12,072,085.04 
Allowance for Impairment-Accounts 
Receivable         (267,469.94)        (267,469.94)        (208,183.28)        (208,183.28)
Net Value-Accounts Receivable 13,928,437.41   13,928,437.41   11,863,901.76   11,863,901.76   

ACCOUNTS

2018 2017

<30 days 30-60 days >60 days
Accounts Receivable 14,195,907.35   11,355,796.60   669,287.05         694,281.17        1,476,542.53   
Due from Government Corporations 2,113.95            2,113.95          
Receivables-Disallowances/Charges          374,408.28        374,408.28 
Other Receivables 2,203.85            2,203.85          
Total 14,574,633.43   11,355,796.60   669,287.05        694,281.17        1,855,268.61   

Past dueNot                     
Past DueACCOUNTS Total

ACCOUNTS 2018 2017
Due from Government Corporations 2,113.95 2,113.95 
Total 2,113.95            2,113.95            
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7.4  Other Receivables  
 

 
 
The Others Receivables are collectibles from customers for their unpaid 
application fee balances and materials loan accounts. 
 

8. INVENTORIES 
  
 This account composed of the following: 
 

Current Non-
Current Total Current Non-

Current Total

Receivables-Disallowances/Charges          374,408.28          374,408.28          374,908.93          374,908.93 
Due from Officers and Employees                        -                          -                9,848.50              9,848.50 
Other Receivables              2,203.85              2,203.85              2,203.85              2,203.85 
Allowance for Impairment-Other 
Receivables                          -                          -                          -                          -   

Net Value-Other Receivables          376,612.13          376,612.13          386,961.28          386,961.28 

ACCOUNTS

2018 2017

Inventories 
carried at the 

lower of the cost 
and net 

realizable value

Inventories 
carried at the 
fair value less 

cost to sell

Inventories 
carried at the 

lower of the cost 
and net 

realizable value

Inventories 
carried at the 
fair value less 

cost to sell

Inventory Held for Sale
     Carrying Amount, January 854,810.12     2,079,131.10    
     Additions/Acquisitions during the year 2,092,844.20  312,071.94       
     Expensed during the year except write-down (940,100.60)    (1,536,392.92)   
     Write-down during the year
     Reversal of Write-down during the year
     Carrying amount, December 31 2,007,553.72  854,810.12       
Inventory Held for Consumption
     Carrying Amount, January 10,330,280.72    8,279,109.22     
     Additions/Acquisitions during the year 11,314,111.02    9,346,952.07     
     Expensed during the year except write-down (7,465,939.84)     (7,295,780.57)    
     Write-down during the year
     Reversal of Write-down during the year
     Carrying amount, December 31 14,178,451.90    10,330,280.72   
Total Carrying Amount, December 31 14,178,451.90     2,007,553.72  10,330,280.72   854,810.12        

2018 2017

ACCOUNTS
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
 Property, plant and equipment account is composed of the following as at December 31,2018: 

 
 

Particulars Land Land 
Improvements

Infrastructure 
Assets

Buildings and Other 
Structures

Machinery and 
Equipment

Transportation 
Equipment

Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Books

Other Property 
Plant and 

Equipment

Construction in 
Progress Total

Carrying Amount, January 
1, 2018      6,729,973.55      3,837,824.43         86,075,705.24                 25,974,335.52      15,873,631.67        7,315,756.15      1,234,514.19            702,012.49        24,580,760.30       172,324,513.54 
Additions/Acquisitions         220,312.50           3,439,717.00        9,358,828.00         388,663.00            157,800.00          8,708,040.85         22,273,361.35 
Total      6,950,286.05      3,837,824.43         89,515,422.24                 25,974,335.52      25,232,459.67        7,315,756.15      1,623,177.19            859,812.49        33,288,801.15       194,597,874.89 
Disposals/Reclassifications         172,042.12 1,860,594.68                           1,763,984.87             (5,700.00)           39,000.00                5,700.00        (3,043,693.99)              791,927.68 
Depreciation ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Performance) (524,404.92)              (8,421,591.07) (1,832,514.62)                     (5,022,487.15) (1,654,768.56)     (610,824.98)                (460,311.72)       (18,526,903.02)
Impairment Loss (As per 
Statement of Financial 
Performance)                            -   

Carrying Amount, 
December 31, 2018 ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Position      6,950,286.05      3,485,461.63         82,954,425.85                 25,905,805.77      20,204,272.52        5,660,987.59      1,051,352.21            405,200.77        30,245,107.16       176,862,899.55 

Gross Cost ( Asset Account 
Balance per Statement of 
Financial Position)      6,950,286.05      6,199,697.17       144,690,602.41                 33,360,657.58      43,300,435.00      14,371,862.95      3,344,194.77         2,429,649.24        30,245,107.16       284,892,492.33 
Accumulated Depreciation    (2,714,235.54)       (61,736,176.56)                 (7,454,851.81)    (23,096,162.48)       (8,710,875.36)    (2,292,842.56)        (2,024,448.47)     (108,029,592.78)
Accumulated Impairment 
Losses                            -   

Carrying Amount, 
December 31, 2018 ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Position      6,950,286.05      3,485,461.63         82,954,425.85                 25,905,805.77      20,204,272.52        5,660,987.59      1,051,352.21            405,200.77        30,245,107.16       176,862,899.55 
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 Property, plant and equipment account is composed of the following as at December 31,2017: 
 

Particulars  Land  Land 
Improvements 

 Infrastructure 
Assets 

 Buildings and Other 
Structures 

 Machinery and 
Equipment 

 Transportation 
Equipment 

 Furniture, 
Fixtures and 

Books 

 Other Property 
Plant and 

Equipment 

 Construction in 
Progress  Total 

Carrying Amount, January 
1, 2017      6,729,973.55      3,909,379.36         81,334,781.63                 19,163,799.56      13,862,729.51        4,788,784.51         901,344.94            578,563.89 19,216,823.77            150,486,180.72 
Additions/Acquisitions           9,655,549.00                        10,800.00        5,488,508.20        3,812,720.00         801,799.91            507,593.00        17,084,789.46         37,361,759.57 
Total      6,729,973.55      3,909,379.36         90,990,330.63                 19,174,599.56      19,351,237.71        8,601,504.51      1,703,144.85         1,086,156.89        36,301,613.23       187,847,940.29 
Disposals/Reclassifications         423,726.69           2,345,702.23                   8,318,909.42           518,145.83           15,000.00                5,501.00      (11,720,852.93)              (93,867.76)
Depreciation ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Performance) (495,281.62)              (7,260,327.62) (1,519,173.46)                     (3,995,751.87) (1,285,748.36)     (483,630.66)                (389,645.40)       (15,429,558.99)
Impairment Loss (As per 
Statement of Financial 
Performance)                            -   
Carrying Amount, 
December 31, 2017 ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Position      6,729,973.55      3,837,824.43         86,075,705.24                 25,974,335.52      15,873,631.67        7,315,756.15      1,234,514.19            702,012.49        24,580,760.30       172,324,513.54 

Gross Cost ( Asset Account 
Balance per Statement of 
Financial Position)      6,729,973.55      6,027,655.05       139,390,290.73                 31,596,672.71      33,947,307.00      14,371,862.95      2,916,531.77         2,266,149.24        24,580,760.30       261,827,203.30 
Accumulated Depreciation    (2,189,830.62)       (53,314,585.49)                 (5,412,214.80)    (18,247,229.91)       (7,092,674.61)    (1,682,017.58)        (1,564,136.75)       (89,502,689.76)
Accumulated Impairment 
Losses                            -   
Carrying Amount, 
December 31, 2017 ( As per 
Statement of Financial 
Position      6,729,973.55      3,837,824.43         86,075,705.24                 26,184,457.91      15,700,077.09        7,279,188.34      1,234,514.19            702,012.49        24,580,760.30       172,324,513.54 

Reconciling Balance                    (210,122.39)           173,554.58             36,567.81 
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The Reconciling Balance of the following 2017 Accounts: Accumulated 
Depreciation of  Buildings and Other Structures, Machinery and Equipment 
and Transportation Equipment in the amount of ₽210,122, ₽173,555 and 
₽36,568 respectively was corrected on December 31, 2018 with JEV# 18-12-
1191-F. 

 
10. OTHER ASSETS 

  
For the calendar year-ended December 31, 2018, the balance of this account is 
as follows:  
 

Particulars 
2018 2017 

Current 
Non-

Current Total Current Non-Current Total 

Prepayments 
       
153,535.90  

                    
-    

        
153,535.90  

  
142,199.60                       -    

       
142,199.60  

Deposits 
         
35,952.99  

                    
-    

          
35,952.99  

    
35,952.99                       -    

         
35,952.99  

Other Assets 
  
22,733,094.32  

  
2,423,941.19  

   
25,157,035.51  

                 
-    

 
27,070,109.83  

  
27,070,109.83  

Total 
  
22,922,583.21  

  
2,423,941.19  

   
25,346,524.40  

  
178,152.59  

 
27,070,109.83  

  
27,248,262.42  

 
Prepayments pertains to the balance of GSIS insurance paid in advance for 
service vehicles, pump stations, office buildings and reservoirs of SKWD. The 
Deposits pertains to meter deposits and advance billing to SUKELCO.  The 
Other Assets- Current pertains to Items in Transit that were awarded in 2018 
and will deliver in 2019. Non- Current Other Assets which include 
Unserviceable  Properties and Idle PPE in the amount of 2,008,010.60 and 
415,930.59 respectively, which the management  intended to use in the future. 
 

11.       FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

11.1  Payables 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Current Non-
Current Total Current Non-

Current Total

Accounts Payable    25,458,743.23    25,458,743.23    30,400,996.28    30,400,996.28 
Due to Officers and 
Employees    10,326,627.71    10,326,627.71      8,756,852.10      8,756,852.10 

Total    35,785,370.94              -      35,785,370.94    39,157,848.38               -      39,157,848.38 

Particulars
2018 2017
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11.2 Bills/Bonds/Loans Payable 
 
  This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

12.       INTER-AGENCY PAYABLES 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
13.       TRUST LIABILITIES 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

The Guaranty/ Security Deposits Payable referred to the amount due to 
supplier for their bid security and performance bond. The Customer Deposits 
Payable pertains to the remaining amount of deposits made by concessionaires 
as guaranty, water and meter deposits. 

 

Current Non-Current Total Current Non-Current Total

 Loans Payable-
Domestic- LWUA 
 L/A# 3-512 
Esperanza 

         840,102.00    4,342,984.45      5,183,086.45    5,957,266.45      5,957,266.45 

 L/A# 4-2512 
Tacurong-2009         364,585.00         364,585.00       953,738.00         953,738.00 

Total      1,204,687.00    4,342,984.45      5,547,671.45                        -      6,911,004.45      6,911,004.45 

Particulars
2018 2017

Current Non-
Current Total Current Non-

Current Total

Due to BIR         255,693.48         255,693.48         501,637.02         501,637.02 
Due to GSIS              (377.10)              (377.10)                        -   
Due to Pag-IBIG           51,953.55           51,953.55                        -   
Due to PhilHealth                  30.00                  30.00                        -   
Total         307,299.93                  -           307,299.93         501,637.02                  -           501,637.02 

Particulars
2018 2017

Current
Non-

Current
Total Current

Non-
Current

Total

Guaranty 
Security 
Deposits 
Payable

729,424.53     -            729,424.53       -                -            -                

Customers' 
Deposits 
Payable

435,656.16     -            435,656.16       435,656.16   -            435,656.16    

Total 1,165,080.69  -            1,165,080.69    435,656.16   -            435,656.16    

Particulars
2018 2017
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14.       DEFERRED CRED/UNEARNED INCOME 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

Deferred Service Concession Revenue account pertains to payments made in 
advance of  concessionaires for installation of new connection. 
 

15. SERVICE AND BUSINESS INCOME 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

Particulars 2018 2017 
Service Income 

  Inspection Fees 18,675.00 17,820.00 
Fines and Penalties-Service 
Income 4,635,952.61 4,171,968.07 
Other Service Income 1,486,219.06 1,875,379.39 
Total Service Income 6,140,846.67 6,065,167.46 
Business Income 

  Rent/Lease Income 1,946,593.45 1,852,074.00 
Waterworks System Fees 128,648,936.10 117,655,608.37 
Sales Revenue 70,630.79 140,532.98 
Interest Income 220,233.40 275,664.80 
Total Business Income 130,886,393.74 119,923,880.15 

Total 137,027,240.41 125,989,047.61 
 
16. PERSONNEL SERVICES 
 

16.1  Salaries and Wages  
 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

Current Non-
Current

Total Current Non-
Current

Total

Deferred Service 
Concessionaire 
Revenue

38,538.11     -           38,538.11       -              38,538.11   38,538.11     

Total 38,538.11   -          38,538.11     -             38,538.11 38,538.11   

Particulars
2018 2017

Particulars 2018 2017
Salaries and Wages-Regular           22,604,785.09           20,719,852.92 
Salaries and Wages- 
Casual/Contractual             1,297,878.36             6,763,111.15 

Total           23,902,663.45           27,482,964.07 
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16.2  Other Compensation  
 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
The Other Bonuses and Allowances for the year 2018 and 2017 were referred 
to the 2017 and 2016 CNA Bonus approved and authorized by LWUA 
respectively. 
 
16.3  Employees Future Benefits  
 
The Sultan Kudarat Water District and its employees contribute to the GSIS in 
accordance to Republic Act No. 8291" The Government Service Insurance Act 
of 1977". The GSIS administers the plan including payment of pension 
benefits to employees to whom the act applies. Retirement Under RA 8291 
may be availed by those who have renderer at least 15 years of service in 
government and must be at least 60 years of age upon retirement. Also they 
must not be permanent total disability pensioners. The last three years of 
Service need not be continuous under RA 8291. 
 
16.4  Personnel Benefit Contributions  
 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars 2018 2017
Personnel Economic Relief 
Allowance (PERA)             2,009,363.17             1,874,000.00 

Representation Allowance (RA)                374,500.00                423,625.00 
Transportation Allowance (TA)                374,500.00                423,625.00 
Clothing/Uniform Allowance                516,000.00                390,000.00 
Honoraria                646,722.00                679,662.00 
Overtime and Night Pay                269,364.56                  61,555.52 
Year End Bonus             4,029,190.00             3,585,059.25 
Cash Gift 431,500.00               390,000.00               
Other Bonuses and Allowances 1,958,333.30            1,542,083.95            
Total 10,609,473.03          9,369,610.72            

Particulars 2018 2017
Retirement and Life Insurance 
Premiums             2,978,297.06             2,706,033.97 

Pag-IBIG Contributions                100,900.00                  94,000.00 
PhilHealth Contributions                291,448.32                233,737.50 
Total 3,370,645.38            3,033,771.47            
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16.5  Other Personnel Benefits  

 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
 16.5.1  Other Personnel Benefits  

 
This account consists of the following: 
 

 
  

 
17.  MAINTENANCE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 

17.1 Travelling Expenses 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 
 

 
 

17.2 Training and Scholarship Expenses 
 
 This account consists of the following: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars 2018 2017
Terminal Leave Benefits             2,403,945.87             2,185,199.71 
Other Personnel Benefits                891,000.00                625,000.00 
Total 3,294,945.87            2,810,199.71            

Particulars 2018 2017
Milestone Anniversary Bonus                255,000.00 
Productivity Enhancement Incentive 
Bonus                428,000.00                385,000.00 

Water Allowance                  52,000.00                  60,000.00 
Rice Allowance                156,000.00                180,000.00 
Total 891,000.00               625,000.00               

Particulars 2018 2017
Traveling Expenses-Local 560,766.17        650,777.15        
Total 560,766.17        650,777.15        

Particulars              2,018.00              2,017.00 
Training Expenses 503,550.00        650,199.75        
Total 503,550.00        650,199.75        
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17.3 Supplies and Materials Expenses 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.4 Utility Expenses 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.5 Communication Expenses 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.6 Awards/Rewards, Prizes and Indemnities 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.7 Confidential, Intelligence and Extraordinary Expenses 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 

Particulars 2018 2017
Office Supplies Expenses 538,424.56        626,357.80        
Accountable Forms Expenses 127,159.45        158,945.11        
Non-Accountable Forms Expenses -                     31,357.09          
Fuel, Oil and Lubricants Expenses 2,146,873.26     1,212,778.66     
Chemical and Filtering Supplies Expenses 2,868,400.51     3,649,931.46     
Other Supplies and Materials Expenses 1,785,082.06     1,616,410.45     
Total 7,465,939.84     7,295,780.57     

Particulars 2018 2017
Water Expenses 180,341.65        211,216.35        
Electricity Expenses 17,336,173.08   15,016,478.44   
Total 17,516,514.73   15,227,694.79   

Particulars 2018 2017
Postage and Courier Services 7,675.28            7,985.00            
Telephone Expenses 268,499.07        224,201.67        
Internet Subscription Expenses 73,781.02          71,616.24          
Cable, Satellite, Telegraph and Radio Expenses 35,314.80          30,479.61          
Total 385,270.17        334,282.52        

Particulars 2018 2017
Awards/Rewards Expenses 412,466.67        234,987.14        
Total 412,466.67        234,987.14        

Particulars 2018 2017
Extraordinary and Miscellaneous Expenses 89,605.39          106,820.40        
Total 89,605.39          106,820.40        
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17.8 Professional Services 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.9 General Services 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.10 Repairs and Maintenance 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.11 Taxes, Insurance Premiums and Other Fees 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars 2018 2017
Legal Services 60,000.00          57,300.00          
Auditing Services 23,585.51          175,371.48        
Total 83,585.51          232,671.48        

Particulars 2018 2017
Janitorial Services 371,928.12        403,820.41        
Security Services 3,577,710.32     3,139,371.75     
Other General Services 225,629.87        117,077.94        
Total 4,175,268.31     3,660,270.10     

Particulars 2018 2017
Repairs and Maintenance-Infrastructure Assets 3,182,201.30     1,820,809.35     
Repairs and Maintenance-Buildings and Other 
Structures 184,027.69        208,884.62        
Repairs and Maintenance-Machinery and Equipment 599,118.44        245,646.00        
Repairs and Maintenance-Transportation Equipment  311,097.83        337,800.51        
Repairs and Maintenance-Furniture and  Fixtures 88,960.50          28,859.58          
Repairs and Maintenance-Other Property, Plant and 
Equipment 86,495.26          167,090.26        
Total 4,451,901.02     2,809,090.32     

Particulars 2018 2017
Taxes, Duties and Licenses 3,154,119.20     2,580,248.87     
Fidelity Bond Premiums 42,000.00          40,500.00          
Insurance Expenses 451,242.88        409,200.68        
Total 3,647,362.08     3,029,949.55     



Notes to Financial Statements 
__________________________________________________________________ 

41 

 

17.12  Labor and Wages 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
17.13  Other Maintenance and Operating Expenses 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

18.  FINANCIAL EXPENSES 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

 
19.  DIRECT COSTS 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars 2018 2017
Labor and Wages 5,574,500.99     -                     
Total 5,574,500.99     -                     

Particulars 2018 2017
Advertising, Promotional and Marketing Expenses 357,552.63        254,591.11        
Printing and Publication Expenses 28,356.99          -                     
Representation Expenses 190,704.89        197,562.05        
Rent/Lease Expenses 1,052,922.00     133,682.50        
Membership Dues and Contributions to Organizations 66,053.50          52,548.00          
Subscription Expenses 14,000.00          13,900.00          
Donations 253,050.00        287,172.97        
Other Maintenance and Operating Expenses  5,186,304.30     3,851,911.89     
Total 7,148,944.31     4,791,368.52     

Particulars 2018 2017
Interest Expenses 511,379.00          614,571.00          
Other Financial Charges -                     31,790.47            
Total 511,379.00        646,361.47        

Particulars 2018 2017
Cost of Sales 940,100.60        1,536,392.92     
Total 940,100.60        1,536,392.92     
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20.  NON-CASH EXPENSES 
 

20.1  Depreciation 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
20.2 Impairment Loss 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

21. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 

21.1 Key Management Personnel 
 

The key management personnel of the Water District are the General 
Manager, the Members of the Governing Body (BOD), and the members 
of the Senior Management Group. The governing body consists of 
members appointed by the Governor . The senior management group 
consists of the Department Manager of Administrative, Department 
Manager of Commercial, Division Manager of General Services Office 
and Division Manager of Admin Services. 

 
 
21.2 Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 

The aggregate remuneration of members of the governing body and the 
number of members determined on a fulltime equivalent basis receiving 
remuneration within this category are: 
 

 

Particulars 2018 2017
Depreciation-Land Improvements 524,404.92        495,281.62        
Depreciation-Infrastructure Assets 8,421,591.07     7,260,327.62     
Depreciation-Buildings and Other Structures 1,832,514.62     1,519,173.46     
Depreciation-Machinery and Equipment 5,022,487.15     3,995,751.87     
Depreciation-Transportation Equipment 1,654,768.56     1,285,748.36     
Depreciation-Furniture, Fixtures and Books  610,824.98        483,630.66        
Depreciation-Other Property, Plant and Equipment 460,311.72        389,645.40        
Total 18,526,903.02   15,429,558.99   

Particulars 2018 2017
Impairment Loss - Loans and  Receivables 59,286.66          31,790.47          
Total 59,286.66          31,790.47          

Particulars Aggregate 
Amount

Salaries and Wages           4,886,157.95 
Other Compensation           1,885,756.00 
Personnel Benefit Contributions           5,447,776.45 
Other Personnel Benefits              602,515.85 
BOD Per Diem              646,722.00 
Total         13,468,928.25 
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22.  SUPPLEMENTARY TAX INFORMATION UNDER REVENUE 
 REGULATION NO. 15-2010 

 
The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued on November 25, 2010 
Revenue Regulation 15-2010 regarding the provision of additional 
disclosures in the Notes to financial statements on information on taxes, 
duties, and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year. 
 
In compliance with the requirements set forth by the aforementioned 
regulation, the Water District reported the following types of taxes, duties 
and license fees paid or accrued for the year ended December 31, 2018: 

 
22.1 Withholding Taxes 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 
22.2 All Other Taxes 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

 
 

23. RECLASSIFICATION 
 

Certain accounts were reclassified to conform to the 2018 financial 
statements presentations. 

 
—oOo— 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Particulars 2018
Tax on Compensation (1601-C)           1,404,775.72 
Creditable Income Taxes (1601-E)              602,123.00 
Other Percentage Taxes (1600)           3,110,282.03 
   Total Withholding Tax           5,117,180.75 
Percentage Tax on Franchises (2551Q)           2,727,227.95 
  Total Percentage Tax on Franchises           2,727,227.95 

Particulars 2018
BIR/Registration/Certification Fee                  1,500.00 
Processing & Permit Fees              395,635.27 
Taxes- Real Property Taxes                29,755.98 
Total              426,891.25 



 
 
 
 
 
 

PART II 
AUDIT OBSERVATIONS AND 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
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PART II – 
AUDIT OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 
A. Financial and Compliance Audit 

 
1. Audit disallowances totaling P374,908.93 remain unsettled as of 

December 31, 2018 despite the issuance of the Notice of Finality of 
Decision (NFD) and COA Order of Execution (COE) to the persons liable 
contrary to Section 7 of COA Circular 2009-006,  to the disadvantage of 
the government.  

 
The head of the agency, who is primarily responsible for all 

government funds and property pertaining to his agency, shall ensure that: (a) 
the required financial and other reports and statements are submitted by the 
concerned agency officials in such form and within the period prescribed by 
the Commission; (b) the settlement of disallowances and charges is made 
within the prescribed period. X.X.X.  

 
He shall enforce the COA Order of Execution (COE) by requiring the 

withholding of salaries or other compensation due the person liable in 
satisfaction of disallowance or charge.  

 
He shall ensure that all employees who are retiring or transferring to 

other agencies shall first settle the disallowances and charges for which they 
are liable.1 

 
In case the person liable retires, resigns or is otherwise separated from 

the service before the disallowance is settled in full, the person liable may 
execute an undertaking authorizing the application of his remaining salary, 
accrued leave credits and other separation benefits to satisfy the deficiency. 
Any unsettled balance after all such salaries and benefits have been applied 
shall be paid by the person liable directly to the agency cashier within fifteen 
(15) days from the date of receipt of notice/demand from the accountant or 
concerned officer.2 

 
Verification of records disclosed that audit disallowances of 

₱374,908.93 which were already final and executory remain unsettled as of 
December 31, 2018. The details of the balance of disallowances are as 
follows: 

 

ND # 
DATE 

ISSUED PARTICULARS DISSALLOWED SETTLED 
BALANCE as 
of 12/31/2018 

17-001-06 11/26/2007 
Various  

Allowances ₱  2,530,718.80 ₱ 2,164,021.67 ₱ 366,697.13 

17-002-06 11/26/2007 COLA 421,874.40 417,578.55 4,295.85 

                                                 
1 Sec. 7.1.1 to 7.1.3 of COA Circular 2009-06 dated September 15, 2009 
2 COA Resolution 2015-031  
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ND # 
DATE 

ISSUED PARTICULARS DISSALLOWED SETTLED 
BALANCE as 
of 12/31/2018 

17-003-06 11/26/2007 Fin. Asst. 350,359.00 346,443.05 3,915.95 
17-004-06 11/26/2007 Provident Fund 360,325.81 360,325.81 - 

TOTAL 
  

₱ 3,663,278.01 ₱ 3,288,369.08 ₱ 374,908.93 
 

As can be gleaned from the above table, the disallowances were issued 
in CY 2007, subsequent appeal was filed by the management but was denied 
thru COA XII Decision No. 09-06 dated April 24, 2009 and was consequently 
affirmed by the Commission Proper thru COA Decision No. 2014-072 dated 
May 08, 2014. After the issuance of the Notice of Finality of Decision (NFD) 
and the COA Order of Execution (COE) No. 2015-007 dated May 15, 2015, 
the disallowances were accordingly recognized in the books of accounts and 
series of payments were made during CY 2015 up to the last payments made 
on June 22, 2017. Since then, the balance remain unsettled as of December 31, 
2018, to the disadvantage of the government.  

 
The non-settlement of audit disallowances is a violation of the 

provision cited under COA Resolution No. 2015-031 dated August 20, 2015 
which provides that audit disallowances may be allowed to be settled by 
installments for a maximum period of twenty four (24) months only. The same 
provision was also reiterated under the reply-letter dated November 2, 2015 
from the Legal Services Sector of the Prosecution and Litigation Office 
addressed to the General Manager of SKWD, upon the grant to the latter’s 
request for the installment basis of settlement of the disallowances.  

 
Upon interview with the Management, it was revealed that the 

balances belong to certain employees who were not already connected to the 
District by the time that the disallowances became final and executory. The 
causes of their separation were due to retirement, Absent Without Official 
Live (AWOL) and mortality. Because of these circumstances, they found it 
difficult to impose the collections from the liable employees thus, making the 
remaining amount of disallowance idle and unsettled as of to date, to the 
disadvantage of the government. 

 
However, it has to be emphasized that the obligation to fully realize the 

remaining balance should be given importance by the Management. Section 
16.3 of COA Circular 2009-006 provides that; The liability of persons 
determined to be liable under an ND/NC shall be solidary and the 
Commission may go against any person liable without prejudice to the latter’s 
claim against the rest of the persons liable. From this provision, it is very 
clear that the liability of each of the persons liable have not yet extinguished 
because of its solidarity in nature. These include and specifically pertain to the 
public officers who certify as to the necessity, legality and availability of 
funds and those who approve and authorize the payment of such expenditures 
which were disallowed in audit.  
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The public officials who have the fiscal responsibility on the 
management of government funds shall be held liable for their failure to 
ensure that such funds are safeguarded against loss and that they are expended 
and utilized in accordance with the existing laws and regulations and 
adequately supported with prescribed documents/records. 
 

We recommended and Management agreed to take the necessary 
actions to expedite the collection of the unsettled disallowances; instruct 
the concerned personnel to exhaust all the possible remedies to collect 
from each of the liable employees; and subsequently, cause all the liable 
certifying and approving officers, who took part in the disbursement of 
the disallowed expenditures, to assume responsibility in the final 
settlement of the remaining balance of the disallowance. 

 
 

2. Enhancements in the submission of monthly reports are needed to ensure 
the efficiency and effectiveness in the management and utilization of its 
resources as part of its internal control procedures. 

 
Pre-audit activities shall henceforth be considered as part of the 

agency's accounting and fiscal control process.  Internal control being a 
primary responsibility of the agencies, an adequate internal control system 
shall be instituted by these agencies in order to achieve economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the management and utilization of their resources. 3 
 

Reports of disbursing officers in a government agency. Disbursing 
officers in any government agency shall render monthly reports of their 
transactions pursuant to regulations of the Commission to be submitted not 
later than the fifth day of the ensuing month to the auditor concerned who 
shall conduct the necessary examination and audit within thirty days from 
receipt thereof. 4  
 

Within five (5) working days from the execution of a contract by the 
government or any of its subdivisions, agencies or instrumentalities, including 
government-owned and controlled corporations and their subsidiaries, a copy 
of said contract and each of all documents forming part thereof by reference 
or incorporation shall be furnished to the Auditor of the agency concerned.  
Xxx. 5 

 
Report of the accountable officer. — Accountable Officers shall render 

a report to the COA Unit Auditor on their accountability for accountable 
forms at least once a month in prescribed form. Such report shall also be 
prepared in case of transfer of office or accountability by the accountable 
officer. The report shall include, among others, the name/type, quantity and 

                                                 
3 Section 7, COA Circular 94-006 dated February 17, 1994 
4 Section 100, PD 1445 
5 Section 3.1.1, COA Circular  2009-001 dtd Feb. 12, 2009 
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serial number and/or value, of the accountable forms as of last month/period, 
the forms received and issued during the month/period and the balances as of 
end of month/period. 6 
 

Report of Accountability for Accountable Forms (RAAF).  The Report 
of Accountability for Accountable Forms (Appendix 65) shall be prepared by 
the Accountable Officer to report on the movement and status of accountable 
forms in his possession. The accountable forms include those with or without 
face value. 7 
 

As part of the internal control procedures of the Agency, it shall 
submit daily the records of receipts, disbursements, expenditures, operations, 
and all other transactions, together with the supporting documents, to the 
Chief Accountant. The Disbursing Officer of the agency, on the other hand, 
shall render monthly reports of their transactions pursuant to the above-cited 
regulations of the Commission on Audit to be submitted within its 
corresponding reglementary period to the Audit Team, who shall conduct the 
necessary examination and audit thereof.  
 

Audit Team’s monitoring and verification disclosed that copies of the 
Agency’s Disbursement Vouchers (DV), Reports of Collection and Deposits 
(RCD), Reports of Check Issued (RCI), Report of Accountability for 
Accountable Forms (RAAF), Contracts, and its related supporting documents 
were not submitted to the audit team within the prescribed period. 
 

The number of days of delay in the submission of the required reports 
ranges between four (4) days to more than nine (9) months, as shown below: 

  
Table 1. Summary of Delayed Reports 

Period Type of 
Reports/Documents 

Range of the number of 
days/months delayed 

January – December 2018 Disbursement Vouchers One (1) Month to Nine (9) 
Months and Eleven (11) Days 

January – December 2018  
Reports of Collection and 
Deposit 

Eleven (11) Days to Six (6) 
Months and Twenty Two (22) 
Days. 

January – December 2018 
RAAF – Noricar B. Dapat 

Four (4) Days to Four (4) 
Months and Four (4) Days 

January – December 2018 RAAF - Lagunoy, Enitorio, 
Panzo, Perez, Denatolio, and 
Perales 

Four (4) Days to Two (2) 
Months and Six (6) Days 

January – December 2018 
RAAF – Jayson Wabinga 

One (1) Month to Nine (9) 
Months and Twenty Six (26) 
Days 

 
 
 
 
                                                 
6 Section 98, Volume I of GAAM 
7 Section 68, Volume II of the NGAS Manual 
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Table 2. Summary on Submission of Contracts 

Name of Project Date of Execution 
of Contracts 

Date Submitted to 
COA 

Surveying Instrument – Infrastructure Multi-
purpose Design System Integrated RTK 
GNSS Hardware and Software 

 
August 23, 2018 

 
September 20, 2018 

 
Moreover, the RCIs for the whole year of 2018 have been submitted 

only on January 24, 2019, and there were thirty-six (36) disbursement 
vouchers for the year 2018 that were not submitted by the Management to the 
Audit Team. 

 
As can be gleaned from the tables above, the District apparently failed 

to comply with the provisions of the above cited COA regulations. Inquiry 
with the Management disclosed that some of the documents were ready within 
the deadline set, however the delays were caused by heavy workload and 
glitches in the process flow of documents. 

 
This is a reiteration of previous years’ audit observations that remain 

uncorrected.  These lapses hinder the Auditor to conduct timely review on the 
legality of the procurement contract as well as the inspection as to the 
existence of the projects and/or supplies/materials, thus defects on government 
contracts, if any cannot be detected and rectified on time.  This may cast doubt 
on the propriety and reasonableness of the procurement transactions and also 
deprive the Management from the prompt information on the results of 
auditorial review, technical evaluation and inspection.  

 
We recommended and Management agreed to install additional 

measures that include enhancement of the process flow of documentation, 
segregation of workloads, and augmentation of personnel in the 
Accounting Section, to facilitate the timely submission of the required 
Monthly Reports together with the related supporting documents within 
the reglementary period for the auditorial review, technical evaluation, 
and inspection. 

 
 

3. The District surpassed majority of the key performance indicators 
regulated by LWUA where it accomplished nine (9) out of the eleven (11) 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) or 82 percent, thus leading to 
favorable results of its financial operation and condition and may result 
to positive evaluation from the Local Water Utilities Administration 
(LWUA) on the District’s request for various performance-based 
concerns. 

 
The growth and ultimate success of an agency will be determined by 

the consistency of results.  And those results can only be achieved if the 
organization consistently meets desired goals and targets.   
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Sultan Kudarat Water District (SKWD) is a local corporate entity that 
operates and maintains a water supply system in Tacurong City, Sultan 
Kudarat. SKWD is established on a local option basis and is classified as 
government–owned and –controlled corporation (GOCC).  And as one of the 
government agencies instituted to provide services to the public by delivering 
a reliable and economically viable and sound water supply, the Local Water 
Utilities Administration (LWUA), which exercises regulatory jurisdiction over 
Local Water Districts (LWDs), sets key performance indicators to monitor 
LWD performance. 

 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are tools used to measure just how 

agencies effectively achieve their goals, and to track and analyze factors 
deemed crucial to the success of the organization.  KPIs are approaches to 
quantify agency objectives so the management can regularly monitor the 
performance and determine where they are successful and where they need to 
improve. 

 
KPIs are critical indicators of progress towards an agency’s operations.  

These provides a focus for strategic and operational improvement, create an 
analytical basis for decision-making and help the management focus on what 
matters most.  KPIs shine a light on how well a business is doing.  Without 
KPIs, it would be difficult for an agency’s management to evaluate and make 
operational changes to address performance problems. 

 
Managing with the use of KPIs includes setting targets (the desired 

level of performance) and tracking progress against the target.  Once targets 
have been identified, they should be clearly communicated to employees so all 
levels of the organization understand which factors matter the most and what 
constitutes successful performance against them. 

 
LWUA as the oversight agency to LWDs has issued Memorandum 

Circular No. 011-18 dated June 1, 2018 that enumerates the KPIs with their 
respective description to monitor LWD performance, to wit: 
 
Table 3. KPIs with their respective descriptions. 

INDICATOR DESCRIPTION 
Non-Revenue Water (NRW): 
must be ≤ 30% 

(Cu.M. Produced – Cu.M. Billed) 
Cu.M. Produced 

Collection Efficiency (CE, 
YTD): must be ≥ 90% 

Total Current Collection 
Total Current Billing 

Market Growth Number of Service Connections generated for the 
specific year compared to approved Corporate 

Operating Budget (COB) 
Capital Expenditure: 
not less than 85%8 

Actual implementation of scheduled CAPEX per 
approved COB 

Reserves Actual Amount of Reserves compared to approved 
COB 

Water Quality Philippine National Standards for Drinking Water 

                                                 
8 per Section 6.4 of LWUA-DBM JMC 2017-014 dated July 3, 2017 
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INDICATOR DESCRIPTION 
(PNSDW) Compliant 

Current Ratio: at least 1.5:1 Current Assets 
Current Liabilities 

Net Income Positive Income for the past twelve (12) months 
Staff Productivity Index 
   Category A, B, C = 120:1 
   Category D          = 100:19 

Ratio of LWD Employees to Active Connections 

24/7 water service % of HH enjoying 24/7 water service 
Sanitation facilities % of HH enjoying sanitation facilities 

 
These set of indicators were established to evaluate the LWDs for 

various concerns such as incentives, credit classification, re-categorization, 
loan application, Board per diem adjustment and other performance based 
concerns. 

 
The SKWD’s performance as of December 31, 2018 (with 

comparative data from December 31, 2017) are as follows: 
 
Table 4. SKWD’s comparative KPIs for the CYs 2018 and 2017. 

Indicators 
December 31, 2018 

(current year) 
December 31, 2017 

(base year) 
Performance Remarks Performance Remarks 

1. Non-Revenue Water 13.59% Passed 16.06% Passed 
2. Collection Efficiency 93.51% Passed 93.94% Passed 

3. Market Growth 88.16% Failed 85.96% Failed 
4. Capital Expenditure 85.73% Passed 70.07% Failed 
5. Reserves 111.78% Passed 112.96% Passed 
6. Water Quality Complied Passed Complied Passed 
7. Current Ratio 4.29: 1 Passed 3.15: 1 Passed 
8. Net Income Positive Passed Positive Passed 
9. Staff Productivity 

Index 
194 : 1 Passed 200 : 1 Passed 

10. 24/7 Water Service 100% Passed 100% Passed 
11. Sanitation Facilities “not yet included in the SKWD’s operation” 

(Please refer to Appendix “A”  for the computation) 
 

In reference to table 4, particularly in December 31, 2018, it was 
observed that out of the eleven (11) KPIs set by LWUA, nine (9) were 
prospered by SKWD.  Moreover, with the foregoing information, we have 
noted the following: 
 
 Non-Revenue Water (NRW) is defined as water that has been produced 

and is “lost” before it reaches the customers.  High levels of NRW are 
unfavorable to the financial viability of LWDs, as well as to the quality of 
water itself.  The NRW was set at 30 percent of the total cubic meter 
produced, hence, the SKWD were remarked as passed in this KPI 
considering that its NRW for the CY 2018 is only 13.59 percent which is 

                                                 
9 per Section 6.3 of LWUA-DBM JMC 2017-014 dated July 3, 2017 
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even lower compared to CY 2017’s commendable result of 16.06 percent. 
Computation of the NRW figures and its equivalent loss of water sales are 
as follows;   

 
Table 5. Computation of Non-Revenue Water. 

 
Particulars 

 
CY 2018 

 
CY 2017 

Water Production (in cubic meter)  5,157,842 4,834,840 
Total Billed (in cubic meter) 4,456,937 4,058,192 
Non-Revenue Water (in cubic meter) 700,905 776,648 
Percentage of NRW 13.59% 16.06% 

   
Computation of Estimated Loss of Water Sales   
NRW (in cubic meter) 700,905 776,648 
 Divided by: 10 cubic meter (minimum qty)  10 10 
Minimum cubic meter 70,090.50 77,664.80 
Multiply by: water rate per 10 cubic meter 
(minimum water rate for residential 
connections) 

P 218.40 P 218.40 

Estimated Loss of Water Sales P  15,307,765.20 P16,961,992.32 
 

While LWUA has prescribed  a tolerable rate of 30% NRW as Key 
Performance Indicators, it should be pointed out that these allowable non-
revenue waters still generate lost revenue to the District which has a huge 
effect on its financial viability thus, management is encouraged to fully 
maximize the utilization of resources as much as possible and employ 
preventive measures to circumvent the adverse effect of NRW. 

 
The computation of estimated loss of water sales as shown in the table 
above shows the additional revenue that could have been derived 
assuming the absence of Non-revenue Waters. However, the complete 
elimination of NRW is impossible to achieve due to the circumstances 
encountered during the operations such as leakages and other inevitable 
technical problems. Despite these constraints, the District could still have 
generated even higher revenue than they actually generated if they have 
thoroughly investigated the causes of the NRW, contemplated for ways to 
lessen the unbilled water, and implemented appropriate programs, projects 
and activities that would be of help in minimizing the NRW even more. 
Nevertheless, we commend the Management in exerting efforts in 
maintaining and improving its NRW for the year.  

 
 Collection efficiency is the ability of LWDs to collect billed water usage 

to their customers for the current year.  Cash inflows are essential to 
enable the water utility to operate in a reliable and predictable manner.  
Thus, tariff levels are generally set to cover the cost of systems expansion, 
operation and maintenance cost, debt service needs of the water district, 
and reserves to cover emergency requirements.  However, regardless of 
how well designed the tariff structure may be, if bills are not collected, or 
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are not  on time, the water district will experience cash shortages that 
could compromise service levels. 

 
Sustained water service depends on the consistent payment by the 
consumers of their water bills.  And the SKWD must ensure that water 
bills are collected promptly for it is essential in their operations.  The 
collection efficiency of the SKWD for the CY 2018 is 93.51 percent and 
93.94 percent for CY 2017. We commend the effort exerted by the 
management in attaining a commendable rate which is greater than the 90 
percent tolerable rate. However, we still advise the Management to exert 
more effort through continuous monitoring on their collections 
considering that the uncollected water bills may result to dormant accounts 
which consequently may add on to the loss of the water district. 

 
 To be successful and remain in operation, both profitability and market 

growth are important and necessary for a water district to survive.  
Profitability is critical to a company’s existence, while market growth is 
crucial to long-term survival.  Profitability and market growth go hand-in-
hand when it comes to success in business.  Profit is vital to basic financial 
survival as a water utility agency, while market growth is fundamental to 
profit and long-term success. 

 
Market growth is the increase or decrease of service connection of the 
water district.  It is also referred to the performance of the water district 
compared to its targeted service connections for the year.  Market growth 
for a water district is essentially an expansion, making the agency bigger, 
increasing its market, and ultimately making it more profitable. For the 
CY 2017 and CY 2018, the SKWD was not  able to meet its targeted 
service connections with a market growth registered at only 88.16% and 
85.96% respectively. Despite not achieving the forecasted growth rate, 
still they were able to service a total of 1,985 market growth over the past 
2 years. With this, we still commend the Management for its effort and 
commitment to continually improve its market which is beneficial to the 
overall operations. Along with this growth, SKWD generated a net income 
of P24,736,268.81 for CY 2018 which is a good manifestation of efficient 
utilization of the District’s resources. 

 
 The current ratio which is the ability of the water district to pay short-term 

obligations has been set by LWUA with a standard of “1.50:1”, which 
means that for every P1 current liability, the water district is expected to 
have P1.50 available current asset to pay. SKWD’s current ratio for the 
CY 2017 and 2018 is “3.15:1” and “4.29:1” respectively, which imply that 
the SKWD have enough capital on hand to meet its short-term obligations 
if they were all due at once.  A ratio under P1 indicates that the agency’s 
debts that will need to be paid in a year or less are greater than its assets 
(either cash or expected to be converted to cash within a year or less). 
With this, we praise the Management for the commendable results over 
the past 2 years of operations. 
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 We commend the Management for utilizing 85.73 percent of their 

budgeted Capital Expenditures. LWUA and DBM have set the tolerable 
Budget Utilization Rate of  at least 85 percent. A huge variance among 
actual expenditures over the budgeted amounts indicates poor 
management and monitoring of financial resources which could affect the 
efficiency of the district in terms of its overall operation. On the other 
hand, it is worthy to mention that 100 percent of the SKWD’s customers 
are enjoying a 24/7 water service supply which indicates strong reliability 
of the district’s service towards the consumers. Furthermore, the District 
also reach the required SPI for a Category A water district as set by 
LWUA which is 120:1 which helped in promoting efficiency in the overall 
operations. 

 
 Lastly, one of the objectives why a water district is formed is: “providing, 

maintaining, and operating wastewater collection, treatment and disposal 
facilities”10.   The SKWD is currently focused on improving and 
developing its water supply system, and expanding its service area. Hence, 
they were not yet engaged in the implementation of sanitation facilities 
and it requires considerable financial resources and advanced mechanism 
for it to be materialized in which the SKWD is not yet equipped for such.  

 
With the foregoing discussion, we commend the Management with the 

overall performance of the SKWD in attaining the key performance indicators 
instituted by LWUA. These results will help the SKWD when they request to 
LWUA for various concern such as incentives, credit classification, re-
categorization, loan application, Board per diem adjustment and other 
performance based concerns. Also, it will lead to favourable result in its 
financial operation and condition. 

 
While we expressed our commendation, we recommended 

however, and Management agreed to continue to assess its current status 
and operation, impose preventive measures to further enhance its overall 
operational performance, and exert more efforts to stabilize and lessen 
the effect of NRW by implementing proper monitoring mechanism and to 
execute prompt actions when leakages and other wastage are spotted. 
 
 

Gender and Development 
 

4. Areas of improvement exist along with District’s gender mainstreaming 
dependencies that necessitate courses of action in order to effectively 
deliver the purpose of gender and development. 

 
Gender and Development as defined by Philippine Commission on 

Women, is the development perspective and process that is participatory and 
                                                 
10 Section 5(b), Chapter II, Title II, Presidential Decree 198 as amended 
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empowering, equitable, sustainable, free from violence, respectful of human 
rights, supportive of self-determination and actualization of human potentials. 
To realize and strengthen GAD among government agencies, prevailing 
issuances11 are issued to adapt gender mainstreaming. This is a process of 
assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action, 
including legislation, policies, or programs in all areas and at all levels. 
Gender mainstreaming aims to make both women and men’s concerns and 
experiences an integral dimension of the design, implementation, monitoring, 
and evaluation of policies and programs in all political, economic, and social 
spheres so that women and men benefit equally, and inequality is not 
perpetuated.  

 
The essential elements of GAD planning and budgeting are the 

creation and/or strengthening of the GAD Focal Point System (GFPS), build 
capabilities of agency on GAD, conduct gender audit, and institutionalize 
GAD database and generate sex-disaggregated data. With this, this 
Commission shall conduct an annual audit on the use of GAD budget for the 
purpose of determining its judicious use, 12efficiency and effectiveness of 
interventions in addressing gender issues towards the realization of the 
objectives of the country’s commitments, plans, and policies on women 
empowerment, gender equality, and GAD. To this note, the team assessed the 
gender mainstreaming dependencies of the District to co-develop solutions for 
improvements and effective delivery of GAD. The team made series of 
interviews and discussions with the management as well as evaluating the 
documents submitted to us. The results of the team’s assessment are discussed 
below. 
 

On the strengthening of the GFPS, the team observed that 
enhancement in the functioning of the District’s GFPS might be needed.  The 
team would like to commend the Management for having sex-disaggregated 
data to some of its GAD initiatives. However, it was observed that there are 
some GAD initiatives which do not have sex-disaggregated data and the 
survey questionnaire was too lengthy; there were inclusions of non-related 
data, leaving questionnaires not adequately answered. Since these data will 
allow the measurement of differences between women and men on various 

                                                 
11Executive Order No. 273: Approving and Adopting the Philippine Plan for Gender-Responsive 
Development, 1995 to 2025; PCW Memorandum Circular No. 2011-01: Guidelines for the Creation, 
Strengthening, and Institutionalization of the Gender and Development (GAD) Focal Point System; PCW-
NEDA-DBM Joint Circular No. 2012-01: Guidelines for the Preparation of Annual Gender and Development 
(GAD) Plans and Budgets and Accomplishment Reports to Implement the Magna Carta for Women; and 
PCW-DBM-DILG-NEDA JMC No. 2013-01: Guidelines on the Localization of the Magna Carta for Women 
as amended by PCW-DBM-DILG-NEDA JMC No. 2016-01, among others.  
12 Republic Act 9710 (An Act Providing for the Magna Carta of Women); PCW Memorandum Circular No. 
2011-01: Guidelines for the Creation, Strengthening, and Institutionalization of the Gender and Development 
(GAD) Focal Point System; PCW-NEDA-DBM Joint Circular No. 2012-01: Guidelines for the Preparation of 
Annual Gender and Development (GAD) Plans and Budgets and Accomplishment Reports to Implement the 
Magna Carta of Women; PCW MC No. 2015-03: Guidelines on the Review and Endorsement of Water 
District Annual Gender and Development Plans and Budgets; PCW Memorandum Circular No. 2014-05: 
Adoption and Generation of Data Support to the Magna Carta of Women Indicators; NEDA-PCW Official 
Development Assistance Gender and Development Network: HGDG for Project Development, 
Implementation Management, Monitoring and Evaluation; among others. 
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social and economic dimensions, the data obtained may not generate sex-
disaggregated data vital to include gender issue identification and responsive 
to GAD initiatives planning. On this, Management replied that the format for 
its questionnaire was patterned only from outside sources. Nonetheless, the 
Management is already in the process of revising the questionnaire to have a 
more effective data gathering procedure and to have sex-disaggregated data to 
other GAD initiatives. 

 
Also, the team applauds the management for including most of its 

employees in a capability building on GAD, outsourcing personnel to conduct 
surveys and tabulation for data gathering, having satisfactory GAD database, 
monitoring its GAD initiatives as well as its evaluation, and having gender 
responsive GAD initiatives. With this, the Management assured that they are 
doing their best in institutionalizing gender mainstreaming; nonetheless they 
are open for improvements to address further to the purpose of gender and 
development. However, the Agency’s Gender and Development (GAD) Plans 
and Budget (GPB) and GAD Accomplishment Report (AR) were not 
submitted to LWUA for review. The Management contends that they have 
submitted the documents to LWUA but the team was not provided for the 
proof thereof despite repeated demands. Reviewed GPB and GAD AR are not 
merely for ministerial purposes but it is crucial for the determination whether 
the Agency’s GAD initiatives are in line with the Philippine Plan for Gender 
and Development.  

 
On the planning, budgeting, and execution of GAD initiatives, the 

District had appropriated the amount of ₱1,968,109.88 which was only 1.07 
percent of its total corporate operating budget of ₱183,045,029.52. Similarly, 
actual disbursements as of December 2018 from this appropriation only 
amounted to ₱770,990.89 which is 39.17 percent of what is budgeted. On this, 
the management explained that it had only included those GAD responsive 
projects they see fit to be included in the GPB and that they can barely note 
GAD initiatives caused by loaded work on top of addressing GAD issues. 
This had resulted to under budgeted GAD appropriations and under-utilized 
GAD budget. 

 
Interestingly, the team’s assessment using the HGDG Tool, led to the 

identification that 22.22 percent or 2 out of 9 of the District’s GAD initiatives 
are promising GAD prospects. These include the activity conducted by the 
Management in line with the celebration of International Women’s Day and 
by providing information dissemination through the media means available in 
the collection area. Also, 1 out of 9 or 11.11 percent of the initiatives are 
considered gender-sensitive. This is the hiring of tabulator for GAD database 
to create consolidated data to support GAD plans and strategies. Further, 
33.33 percent (3 out of 9) of the initiatives are gender-responsive, these are 
the capability training and development of employees; from its rank and file to 
managerial level positions, this aims to further develop and upgrade the 
competencies of its employees and to continue the advocacy on empowering 
women employees. Lastly, 2 out of 9 or 22.22 percent of the initiatives are 
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fully gender-responsive. These are the Water Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) 
initiative which aim to provide potable water to far flung barangays within 
Agency’s area of coverage by providing hand water pumps and the 
construction of comfort room with septic tank. However, noteworthy is the 
GAD initiative that was not accomplished by the Agency; that is to 
benchmark GAD activities from other water districts. This GAD initiative 
could have resulted to continuous GAD learning activities through cross 
learning from other water districts with established GAD programs, activities, 
and projects. 
 

To sum up, the team would like to commend the District’s plan to 
deliver the purpose of gender and development. Still, the delivery of the 
District in relation to gender and development would require utmost efforts to 
comply further with the mandate of gender and development and address 
gender issues. Management should institutionalize gender mainstreaming to 
help the District build its capabilities on GAD and contribute in eliminating 
inequality between men and women. 
 
 We recommended and Management agreed to a) continue 
implement the District’s GAD capacity development programs; b) 
adequately disseminate GAD related responsibilities to GFPS members; 
c) utilize the approved/existing agency budget to implement GAD 
Programs, Activities, and Projects (PAPs); and d) adopt gender 
mainstreaming strategy to adequately plan and attain desired outcomes 
for gender and development using the gender analysis tools. 

 
 
 
Compliance to Tax Laws 
 
Taxes withheld from the salaries and benefits of employees, payment for the 
purchase of materials and services, franchise tax and other related taxes 
amounting to P5,117,180.75 in CY 2018 were regularly withheld and 
remitted to the BIR in compliance with Revenue Regulations No. 2-98 dated 
April 17, 1998. 
 

Analysis of the Due to BIR account of the District for CY 2018 disclosed 
that all taxes withheld were regularly and promptly remitted to the BIR pursuant 
to the above revenue regulations as presented below: 
 

Months Due to BIR 
(Beginning) 

Taxes 
Withheld 

Taxes 
Remitted 

Due to BIR 
(End) 

January 501,637.02          432,408.41          499,506.64  434,538.79  
February 434,538.79          764,703.71          434,083.44  765,159.06  
March 765,159.06          364,306.63          765,159.06  364,306.63  
April 364,306.63          501,509.18          364,754.76  501,061.05  
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Months Due to BIR 
(Beginning) 

Taxes 
Withheld 

Taxes 
Remitted 

Due to BIR 
(End) 

May 501,061.05          370,402.05          501,434.50  370,028.60  
June 370,028.60          315,443.76          370,028.60  315,443.76  
July 315,443.76          411,134.82          315,443.76  411,134.82  
August 411,134.82          647,737.44          411,134.82  647,737.44  
September 647,737.44          365,737.37          642,710.05  370,764.76  
October 370,764.76          422,224.59          365,001.52  427,987.83  
November 427,987.83          273,101.98          428,337.53  272,752.28  
December 272,752.28          248,470.81          265,529.61  255,693.48  
Total 5,382,552.04  5,117,180.75  5,363,124.29  5,136,608.50  
 

We commended Management for continuously withholding and 
remitting taxes regularly to the BIR pursuant to the revenue regulations 
 
 
Compliance to GSIS Laws 
 
The District complied with the obligation to deduct from officers and 
employee’s compensation the mandatory employee’s contribution and the 
corresponding employer’s share for CY 2018 and remitted the same to the 
GSIS pursuant to Section 5 and 6, respectively, of RA No. 8291 or the 
Revised Government Service Insurance Act of 1997. 
 

Months 
Premium 

Employer's 
Share 

Deduction Total 
Premiums 

(Employer & 
Employee’s 
Share) and 

Loans 

GSIS 
Remitted 

Due to 
GSIS 

(Ending) 
Premium 

Employee's 
Share 

Loan Total 
Deduction 

January 242,570.01  175,943.85  277,047.38  452,991.23  695,561.24  693,928.75  1,632.49  

February 243,651.82  176,738.87  268,809.40  445,548.27  689,200.09  690,601.96  (1,401.87) 

March 245,286.80  177,869.98  267,664.19  445,534.17  690,820.97  688,261.42  2,559.55  

April 250,344.26  181,458.20  279,338.34  460,796.54  711,140.80  713,930.97  (2,790.17) 

May 248,503.05  179,976.70  260,374.99  440,351.69  688,854.74  688,854.74  -    

June 246,448.04  178,611.03  272,347.19  450,958.22  697,406.26  697,406.26  -    

July 249,779.15  180,959.38  277,073.61  458,032.99  707,812.14  703,781.36  4,030.78  

August 246,358.44  178,468.83  272,394.28  450,863.11  697,221.55  701,041.91  (3,820.36) 

September   244,737.56  177,328.17  276,579.70  453,907.87  698,645.43  700,280.64  (1,635.21) 

October  252,034.32  182,202.36  241,768.74  423,971.10  676,005.42  674,580.63  1,424.79  

November 250,536.69  181,377.51  267,232.08  448,609.59  699,146.28  699,146.28  -    

December 258,092.76  186,592.49  260,527.26  447,119.75  705,212.51  705,589.61   (377.10) 

Total 2,978,342.90  2,157,527.37     3,221,157.16  5,378,684.53   8,357,027.43  8,357,404.53   (377.10) 
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We commended Management for continuously withholding premiums 

and loan payments and remitting them regularly to the GSIS pursuant to the 
government insurance regulations. 

 
 

Compliance to HDMF Laws 
 

The District substantially complied with the provisions of Rule VII of 
IRR 9679 dated July 21, 2009 and HDMF Circular No.275 dated January 22, 
2010. 
 

Audit of Due to HDMF account showed that the District withheld 
employees’ share/loans and these were remitted including the employer’s share to 
the HDMF. Based on the general ledger, the summary of the HDMF employees’ 
and employer’s contributions withheld as well as the corresponding remittances 
for CY 2018 is shown below: 
 

Months 
Premium 
Employer
's Share 

Deduction 
Total 

Premiums 
and Loans 

HDMF 
Remitted 

Due to 
HDMF 

(Ending) 
Premium 

Employee's 
Share 

Loan Total 
Deduction 

January 8,000.00  14,600.00  49,322.61  63,922.61  71,922.61  71,922.61  -    

February 8,000.00  14,600.00   49,322.61  63,922.61  71,922.61  71,922.61  -    

March 8,200.00  14,800.00  49,322.61  64,122.61  72,322.61  72,322.61  -    

April 8,400.00  16,800.00  49,322.61  66,122.61  74,522.61  74,522.61  -    

May 8,600.00  17,000.00  38,922.00  55,922.00  64,522.00  64,522.00  -    

June 8,300.00  16,700.00  38,922.00  55,622.00  63,922.00  11,524.00  52,398.00  

July 8,500.00  16,700.00  37,956.01  54,656.01  63,156.01  63,922.00  (765.99) 

August 8,400.00  16,600.00  38,956.01  55,556.01  63,956.01  63,156.01  800.00  

September 8,300.00  16,700.00  44,917.42  61,617.42  69,917.42  64,156.01  5,761.41  

October 8,700.00  17,000.00  39,050.93  56,050.93  64,750.93  69,817.42   (5,066.49) 

November 8,700.00  16,900.00  32,047.43  48,947.43  57,647.43  64,650.93  (7,003.50) 

Months 
Premium 
Employer
's Share 

Deduction Total 
Premiums 
and Loans 

HDMF 
Remitted 

Due to 
HDMF 

(Ending) 
Premium 

Employee's 
Share 

Loan Total 
Deduction 

December 8,800.00  17,000.00  37,877.55  54,877.55  63,677.55  57,847.43  5,830.12  

Total 100,900.00  195,400.00  505,939.79   701,339.79  802,239.79  750,286.24  51,953.55  

 
We commended Management for its continued adherence to rules and 

regulation on HDMF Circular No. 275. 
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Status of Audit Suspensions, Disallowances and Charges as of Year-End 
 
The total audit suspension, disallowances and charges found in the audit of 

various transactions of the agency, as of December 31, 2018 is P374,908.93, 
based on the Notice of Suspension (NS)/Notice of Disallowance(ND)/Notice of 
Charge (NC) issued by this Commission, as summarized hereunder: 

 
Particulars Suspensions Disallowances Charges 

Summary of Audit Suspensions, 
Disallowances and Charges as of 
December 31, 2017 

P0.00 P3,302,952.20 P0.00 

Add: Issuances 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Less: Settlements    
          Prior Year 0.00 0.00 0.00 
          Current Year 0.00 2,928,043.27 0.00 
Balance, December 31, 2018 P0.00 P374,908.93 P0.00 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

PART III 
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PART   III- 
STATUS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF PRIOR YEARS’ 
UNIMPLEMENTED AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
 

Of the eleven (11) prior years’ audit recommendations embodied in the 2017 Annual 
Audit Report, five (5) were fully implemented and six (6) were partially implemented, as 
detailed below:  

 

No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

1 Property Plant and Equipment 
amounting to P172,324,513.54 
could not be ascertained as to its 
existence, validity and accuracy 
due to the non-conduct of 
physical count contrary to Sec. 
490 of GAAM Volume 1, 
thereby casting doubt on the 
fairness of the financial 
statements’ presentation. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to: a) 
require the Property Department 
to constantly monitor and 
prepare the necessary reports 
vis-à-vis physical count of PPEs 
in conformity with the above 
mentioned provisions; b) cause 
regular reconciliation of records 
between the Property Unit and 
the Accounting Division to 
detect errors, if any and effect 
necessary correction in the 
affected records for the fair 
presentation of PPE accounts in 
the Financial Statements. 
 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

Management is on the 
process of 
implementing the 
recommendation, 
physical count has 
already been 
conducted but the 
preparations of the 
required reports have 
been delayed with the 
lack of personnel to 
handle. 

2 Unserviceable Properties 
reclassified to Other Assets 
account totaling P2,423,941.19 
were not adequately supported 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

The disposal is on  
process, the bidding 
for disposal of which 
should be imposed 
within next year with 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

with required reports and were 
not disposed of as of the 
appropriate time contrary to 
Section 64, Volume II of the 
NGAS Manual, Section 79 of 
PD 1445 and COA Circular No. 
89-296,  thus exposing them to 
further physical deterioration, 
decline in economic value and 
depriving the government from 
the potential benefits had the 
immediate disposal of these 
properties been effected. 
 

We recommended and 
Management agreed to: 
a. take appropriate action on 

the insufficiency of 
personnel in the Property 
Department in order to 
enhance the monitoring 
system on asset utilization, 
reporting and disposal; 

b. instruct the Property 
Department and the 
Inventory Committee to 
initiate the conduct of 
physical count of PPEs and 
prepare the Report on 
Physical Count of PPE in 
order to determine the actual 
existence and condition of 
the properties and shall be 
used as basis of 
reconciliation of records 
with the Accounting Unit; 

c. instruct the Property Unit 
and the Appraisal & 
Disposal Committee to 
conduct the physical count of 
unserviceable properties, 
prepare the Inventory and 

the appointment of 
appropriate personnel 
to focus on this 
matter. 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

Inspection Report of 
Unserviceable Properties and 
undertake immediate 
disposal of unserviceable 
properties in accordance 
with the procedures 
prescribed under Section 79 
of Presidential Decree 1445 
and COA Circular 89-296; 
and 

d. instruct the Accounting Unit 
to record the disposal of 
unserviceable properties by 
dropping from the books of 
accounts the related Asset 
accounts. 

 
 

3 Eighty Six (86) disbursement 
vouchers for CY 2017 in the 
total amount of ₱11,559,456.23 
were not submitted to COA for 
mandatory post audit and 
custody contrary to Sections 100 
and 122 of PD 1445 and COA 
Circular Nos. 2009-006 and 95-
006, hence Management’s 
assertions of occurrence, 
accuracy, validity and 
completeness of financial 
transactions cannot be 
ascertained and thereby 
depriving the end users of  the 
financial statements on the 
timely and relevant information. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to: 
 a) cause the immediate 

submission of the eighty (86) 
check vouchers with 
complete supporting 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

35 vouchers were 
already submitted to 
COA office and 
insured that the 
remaining vouchers 
will be submitted as 
soon as possible. 
However, there are 
vouchers that were 
totally missing. 
Management is 
seeking appropriate 
action to it. 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

documents;  
b) direct the accountable officer 

to monitor and ensure that 
the required documents are 
readily available to support 
the disbursement 
transactions; and  

c) adhere strictly on the 
prescribed timeline in the 
submission of disbursement 
vouchers with the supporting 
documents to the Auditor 
pursuant to COA rules and 
regulations. 

 
4 Deficiencies in 

Public/Competitive Bidding 
procedures due to non-adherence 
to the Government Procurement 
Reform Act (RA 9184) and its 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations were observed, 
thereby casting doubt to the 
propriety and regularity of 
procured goods and services 
totaling ₱19,783,642.20. 
 
We have recommended and 
Management agreed to ensure 
that all procurement 
transactions/pertaining to 
Competitive/Public Bidding are 
in accordance with the 
prescribed procedures as 
stipulated in the 2016 Revised 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations of RA 9184. 
 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

Management is 
making sure that full 
compliance will be 
implemented for the 
incoming periods of 
operations. 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

5 Contracts, Purchase Orders and 
all other documents forming part 
thereof were not submitted on 
time for auditorial review 
contrary to COA Circular No. 
2009-001, thus casting doubt on 
the propriety and reasonableness 
of the procurement transactions 
and depriving the Management 
from the prompt information on 
the results of auditorial review, 
technical evaluation and 
inspection. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to install 
measures that will facilitate the 
timely submission of Contracts 
and/or Purchase Orders together 
with the related supporting 
documents within the 
reglementary period to facilitate 
auditorial review, technical 
evaluation and inspection 
pursuant to COA Circular No. 
2009-001. 
 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

Management is on 
process of totally 
complying the 
requirements and will 
be submitting all the 
pertinent documents 
on time. 

6 Monthly Report of 
Accountability for Accountable 
Forms (RAAF) was not prepared 
and submitted contrary to 
Section 68, Volume II of the 
New Government Accounting 
System (NGAS) Manual and 
Section 98 of Government 
Accounting and Auditing 
Manual (GAAM)), thus resulting 
in weak monitoring system on 
the movement and status of 
accountable forms. 
 
We recommended  and 

CY 2017 
AR 

Fully 
Implemented 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

Management agreed to instruct 
the Accountable Officers to 
strictly comply with the 
preparation and submission of 
the monthly RAAF as basis for 
monitoring the movement of 
accountable forms at their 
possession to ensure reliability 
of the monthly balances of 
inventory. 
 

7 The District registered an 
average Non-Revenue Water 
(NRW) of 16.06 percent for CY 
2017 which is within the 20 
percent acceptable level of NRW 
as required under LWUA 
Resolution No. 444, series of 
2009 and LWUA Memorandum 
Circular No. 004-10. 
 
We commended Management 
for diligently maintaining its 
NRW for CY 2017 within the 
acceptable level as prescribed by 
LWUA Memorandum Circular.  
We have recommended 
however, that Management 
continue to exert more efforts in 
ensuring lower NRW rate 
through  (a) checking water 
meters  and immediately 
replacing worn out or defective 
ones; (b) ensuring immediate  
and prompt repair of identified 
leaks; and (c) identifying  and 
penalizing concessionaires who 
do illegal tapping  and 
permanently disconnect their 
water service. 
 

CY 2017 
AAR 

Fully 
Implemented 

 

8 Deficiencies in CY 2016 Fully  
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

Public/Competitive Bidding 
procedures were observe due to 
non-adherence to the 
Government Procurement 
Reform Act (RA 9184) and its 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations, thereby casting 
doubt to the propriety and 
regularity of procured goods and 
services totaling P27,436522.47. 
 
We have recommended and 
Management agreed to ensure 
that all transactions/activities 
pertaining to Competitive/Public 
Bidding are in accordance with 
the prescribed procedures are 
stipulated in the 2016 Revised 
Implementing Rules and 
Regulations of RA 9184 
 

AAR Implemented 

9 The propriety and legality of 
various charges imposed by the 
District to its concessionaires 
cannot be ascertained because 
these charges were not subjected 
to review and approval of 
LWUA as provided under 
Section 63 of Presidential 
Decree 198 as amended. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to submit to 
LWUA the various imposed 
charges for their review and 
approval to establish compliance 
with the provisions prescribed 
under Section 63 of  PD 198. 
 

 

CY 2015 
AAR 

Fully 
Implemented 

 

10 The necessity, propriety and 
legality of hiring Services/Job 

CY 2015 
AAR 

Partially 
Implemented 

On process of 
creating policy 
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

Orders in the District is 
questionable because Section 2 
Rule XI of the Omnibus Rules 
implementing Book V of 
Executive Order (EO) No. 292, 
Section 209 to 211 and 517, 
Volume I of the GAAM were 
not strictly followed. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to: 
 recommend to the Board of 

Directors to issue policy 
guidelines in the hiring of job 
order in accordance with 
Section 2 Rule XI of the 
Revised  Omnibus Rules 
Implementing Book V of EO 
No. 292 and COA rules and 
regulations cited above;  

 plan and evaluate further on 
how to achieve the ideal and 
realistic personnel 
complement of the District 
instead of resorting to Job 
Order as scheme: 

 evaluate the performance and 
skills of the said job order 
personnel  thatbelongs to 
Category II and III as 
provided under Civil Service 
Commission Memorandum 
Circular No. 10, series of 
2013 or the Skills Eligibility 
for possible appointment to 
permanent regular positions, 
if merited; and 

 prioritize hiring plumbers of 
regular status in the District. 
 

guidelines on 
Hiring of Job orders 
and Casual and 
Scheduling of 
Hiring and 
Promotion  and 
expressed 
compliance 
regarding 
contracting new and 
existing COS and 
JO workers untill 
December 31, 2020. 
 

11 The existence, accuracy and CY 2014 Fully  
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No. Audit Observations and 
Recommendation 

Reference 
 

Status of 
Implementation 

(Full, Partial, 
Ongoing, Not 
Implemented) 

Reason for Partial/ 
Non-Implementation 

validity of the Accounts 
Receivables and Guaranty 
Deposit Payable accounts totaling 
to P8.98 million and P1.05 
million , respectively cannot be 
fully established due to absence 
of details and not fully supported 
with subsidiary ledgers/schedules 
and the existence of Guaranty 
Deposits Payable totaling to 
P1.05 million which have been 
dormant for more than five years 
affect the true financial condition 
of the District. 
 
We recommended and 
Management agreed to: 
 Expedite the installation of 

an IT system that will link 
the accounting records with 
the billing and collection 
records. 

 Exert more effort to locate all 
the documents that will 
support the balances of the 
Guaranty Deposits Payable 
account; 

 

AAR Implemented 
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APPENDIX A

Key Performance Indicator of Sultan Kudarat Water District (SKWD)

For Calendar Years 2018 and 2017

2018 2017

1. Non Revenue Water (NRW)

Cubic Meter Produced 5,157,842              4,834,840              

Cubic Meter Billed 4,456,937              4,058,192              

NRW (in %age) 13.59% 16.06%

2. Collection Efficiency (CE)

Total Current Collection 125,537,146.20    115,237,964.09    

Total Current Billing 134,256,076.11    122,674,534.12    

CE (in %age) 93.51% 93.94%

3. Market Growth (MG)

Actual 1,005                      980

Budget (per approved COB) 1140 1140

MG (%age from Budget) 88.16% 85.96%

4. Capital Expenditure (CapEx)

Actual 22,685,559.28      41,553,484.43      

Budget (per approved COB) 26,460,798.13      59,306,418.34      

CapEx (%age from Budget) 85.73% 70.07%

5. Reserves

Actual 4,516,702.69        4,470,342.47        
Budget (per approved COB) 4,040,554.28        3,957,448.45        

Reserves (%age from Budget) 111.78% 112.96%

6. Water Quality

Bacteriological Test Monthly Monthly

Physical Chemical Test Once a year Once a year

CR (in Ratio) Complied Complied

7. Current Ratio (CR)

Current Assets 165,101,369.00    150,630,893.00    

Current Liabilities 38,500,976.67      47,753,558.53      

CR (in Ratio) 4.29 : 1 3.15 : 1
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8. Net Income (NI)

Revenue 137,967,341.01    127,525,440.53    

Expenses 113,231,072.20    99,332,751.64      

Net Income (-Loss) 24,736,268.81      28,192,688.89      

NI Compliance Positive Positive

9. Staff Productivity Index (SPI)

# of Employees 88 81

Active Connections 17,040                    16,227                    

SPI (in Ratio) 194 : 1 200 : 1

10. 24/7 Water Service (24/7 WS)

# of SC w/o 24/7 water supply

Active Connections 1,650                      1,436                      

24/7 WS (in %age) 100.00% 100.00%

11. Sanitation Facilities

- The SKWD is not yet engaged in the sanitation facility.
- They are more focused on improving their water supply and services.
- Not yet included in the SKWD's operation.

Prepared by:

JEROLD R. FUENTES
Audit Team Member

Date: 02/20/2019

Reviewed by:

CABIBA M. MAMAGANDING

Audit Team Leader

Date: 02/20/2019
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